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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to
invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the
contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the
Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and
there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group continued to engage in
the research and development, manufacture and sale of consumer electronic
products. In response to growing online activities stimulated by the pandemic,
we set up a wholly-owned subsidiary in Kashi, Xinjiang, known as "5 {8 A,
FH = B R K A R A A (Kashgar Shidai Jiufang Information Technology
Company Limited*) to explore the business of online information and digital
marketing services. We provide one-stop services to our customers by offering
design, prototyping/sampling, manufacturing, assembling, packaging and
marketing of their products.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT AND DEVELOPMENT

2022 was another difficult and challenging year, continued to be negatively
impacted by COVID-19 for three years in a row. Various waves of the
pandemic and the maintenance of strict COVID-contained measures by the
Chinese government disrupted the global supply chain and economic
activities. The year also marked escalating geopolitical rivalries and rising
fragmentation. The protracted war between Russia and Ukraine since
February 2022, the sanctions against Russia and the retaliation interrupted the
supplies of energy, commodities and agricultural products, accelerating the
soaring inflation further. In 2022, we also witnessed intensified tensions
between China and the US. Military exercises around Taiwan slowed the flow
of cargo vessels to and from the key waterway, creating logistical headaches
for electronic components. On top of the existing trade war which responded
by retaliation, various new export limits, sanctions, investments and technology
bans on area such as those related to semiconductor chips were introduced
by the US government against China during the year. China-US decoupling
increasingly looked like a reality. On the other hand, getting inflation back
under control was the primary focus by central banks in 2022, with rapid
switch from monetary expansionary policy to contractionary policy. During
2022, the US Federal Reserve significantly raised its benchmark interest rate
by 425 basis points from 0-0.25% to 4.25-4.5%. This would undoubtedly
affect capital flows, investments and global demands.

The manufacturing and trading businesses of the Group and its associated
companies and their operations were inevitably disrupted and negatively hit
under such multiple headwinds and tough macro-environment. The Group has
been vigilant in monitoring and managing its operations in light of the
challenges. We made tactical adjustments and considered that online
business is less vulnerable to the prevailing environment. Accordingly, we
explored the business of online information and digital marketing services
through our PRC subsidiary in Xinjiang.

* For identification purpose only

anagement Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2022, sales on trading of electronic products, accessories and raw materials
remained as the Group’s primary stream of revenue. Revenue from
manufacturing of electronic products accounted for 27.3% of our overall
revenue in 2022 while it accounted for 15.5% in 2021. However, given the
negative impact on industries relating to semiconductors, electronic
components and products under the abovementioned macro-environment,
particularly in China, our revenue growth momentum was significantly
weakened since the second quarter of the year. Uncertainties in operation
disruptions left us no choice but downsize our scale and therefore we
recorded substantial drop in revenue in the second half of 2022. Accordingly,
the total revenue of the Group decreased by 20.4% from HK$82.5 million in
2021 to HK$65.7 million in 2022. Although our overall gross profit margin was
5.0% and remained at similar level as compared to 2021, our gross profit
decreased by HK$0.7 million from HK$4.0 million in 2021 to HK$3.3 million in
2022, due to the aforesaid drop in revenue.

To cope with the unfavourable environment and to diversify our sources of
revenue, we explored the business of online information and digital marketing
services and initially recorded revenue since the second half of 2022.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW B 7 1 R
2022 2021
—E-C—& —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
Total operation-related expenses R ERRRXAE FExT FHET
Administrative expenses THRAX
— Staff costs — 8T AR 5,798 5,119
—  Depreciation of right-of-use assets* -  ERREENE 1,576 1,954
— Written off/provision for allowance of inventories  — FEM S BE 3,750 428
— Others — HAith 3,574 6,108
Impairment losses for right-of-use assets FRREEZRERSE 2,080 -
Impairment losses for trade receivables FEUBR IR RE 51 49 503
(Reversal of impairment losses)/impairment losses Hth U IE 2 CRER IR,
for other receivables HIEEE (130) 1,431
Other operating losses Hfth g 518 250 250
16,947 15,793
# Excluding depreciation of right-of-use assets included in cost of sales # TEESABEXRNARNZ FREEENE
Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / £ E $§ & 2022 5
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Staff costs represented one of the major components of the Group’s
administrative expenses, which mainly consisted of directors’ emoluments,
salaries, retirement benefit scheme contribution, share-based expense and
other benefits. Staff costs increased by HK$0.7 million from HK$5.1 million in
2021 to HK$5.8 million in 2022. The increase was mainly contributed by the
grant of new share options in June 2022, resulting in additional recognition of
notional share-based payment expenses of HK$1.1 million. Excluding the
effect of share options, the staff costs dropped by HK$0.4 million under
tightened control and downsize in operation scale.

Depreciation of right-of-use assets decreased by HK$0.4 million from HK$2.0
million in 2021 to HK$1.6 million in 2022, mainly due to the termination of
leases to preserve the resources of the Group. Impairment losses of HK$2.1
million was provided in 2022 for the factory under right-of-use assets due to
the above-mentioned uncertainties in operation and disruptions.

To deal with the obsolete raw materials and stocks, the Group recorded sales
of scrap, included in other revenue, amounted to HK$1.4 million in 2022
whereas it did not have such sales in 2021. The Group also wrote off of/made
allowance for inventories of HK$3.8 million in 2022, increased by HK$3.4
million from HK$0.4 million in 2021.

The total operation-related expenses increased by HK$1.1 million from
HK$15.8 million in 2021 to HK$16.9 million in 2022, mainly due to (i) the
aforesaid increase in staff costs; (i) impairment losses of right-of-use assets;
(iii) increase in written-off/provision for allowance of inventories; partially offset
by (iv) general savings in administrative and operating expenses resulting from
tightened cost control and downsize in operation to preserve our resources
under the tough and uncertain environment ; (v) the decrease in depreciation
of right-of-use assets and (vi) the decrease in impairment loss for trade and
other receivables resulting from the drop in their expected credit loss.

Finance costs represented imputed interest on lease liabilities and convertible
bonds and the costs increased from HK$1.5 million in 2021 to HK$2.0 million
in 2022. The increase was mainly due to the increase in imputed interest on
convertible bonds as the old convertible bonds was expired on 14 March
2021 whereas the new convertible bonds was issued on 2 July 2021.

Operation of Associates

Our associate, Celestial Rainbow Group, which has been equity accounted
for, mainly engaged in manufacturing and trading of electronic products, such
as fitness bracelets, targeting overseas market. Its operation was vulnerable to
the prevailing environment and operation disruptions mentioned above.
Accordingly, the associate continued to contribute negatively to our bottom
line. We recorded a total of HK$9.9 million of share of loss of the associate
and its goodwill impairment in 2021 whereas we shared HK$7.2 million of its
loss in 2022.

Loss Attributable to Owners of the Company

The Group recorded a loss attributable to owners of the Company of HK$18.4
million in 2022, representing an decrease of HK$4.2 million from HK$22.6
million in 2021, mainly due to the aforementioned drop in gross profit and
increase in total operation-related expenses was more than offset by the
increase in other revenue, the reduction in the aggregate of share of loss of
the associate and its goodwill impairment, and the increase in share of loss by
non-controlling interests in loss making subsidiaries.

anagement Discussion and Analysis
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

Below is a summary of the key financial ratio:

RBES - WHEFRREXRER

TXREZYHLEHRE

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
Notes 2022 2021
Mt -2 —E-—F
Current ratio BN LR 1 0.67 1.32
Quick ratio REEE 0.67 1.26
Gearing ratio BEABLE 20.99 0.99
Notes: BaE -
1. Current ratio is calculated by dividing total current assets by total current liabilities 1. RENLL IR AR QTR EERAGRD B ETE -
as at the respective period end.
2. Quick ratio is calculated by dividing total current assets less inventories by total 2. R RIZEERARERBDEERFERINARBEREH -
current liabilities as at the respective period end.
3. Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing total debt by total equity as at the respective 3. BEAGBLRRBEARBEBRAGERTE - RE4ER

period end. For the avoidance of doubt, total debt includes liability component of
convertible bonds and lease liabilities.

Historically, the Group has funded its liquidity and capital requirements
primarily through operating cash flows, borrowings and funds from the listing
of the Company’s shares on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. The Group
requires cash primarily for working capital needs.

On 2 July 2021, convertible bonds in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$20,000,000 with 4% interest per annum and two-year lifespan were
issued under the general mandate granted to the Directors to Mr. Wu
Xiongbin. Assuming full conversion at the conversion price of HK$0.12, the
convertible bonds will be convertible into 166,666,666 conversion Shares.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no material change to
the capital structure of the Group. The change in the ratios of the above table
was contributed largely by the loss incurred during the year 2022 and the
change of the abovementioned $20 million convertible bonds, which will be
matured in July 2023, from non-current liabilities to current liabilities. The
Group kept monitoring its cash level and debt level and maturity. It would
consider different ways of financing in order to strengthen the Group’s capital
base and liquidity, including but not limited to negotiating with the existing
convertible bond holder, issuance of new bonds, obtaining additional financial
assistance from shareholders or Directors, seeking new banking facilities and
carrying out further cost controls. In these regards, the Company will publish
announcement as and when appropriate according to the requirements under
the applicable listing rules.

Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / & & #f & 2022
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As at 31 December 2022, there were outstanding convertible bonds with the
aggregate principal amount of HK$20 million (31 December 2021: HK$20
million). As at 31 December 2022, the Group had approximately HK$1.7
million in bank and cash balances (31 December 2021: HK$2.6 million).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Saved for those disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have any
other significant capital commitments as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Saved for those disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have any
other significant capital expenditure for the year ended 31 December 2022
and 2021.

CHARGES ON ASSETS
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group did not have any charges on
its assets.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s reporting currency is Hong Kong dollars and the functional
currencies of the Group’s entities are principally denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and Renminbi. A portion of the Group’s transactions are denominated
and settled in United States dollars, which has very limited exchange
fluctuation with Hong Kong dollars historically. The Group currently has not
implemented any foreign currency hedging policy and we will consider hedging
against significant foreign exchange exposure should the need arise.

LITIGATION

On 16 November 2020, the Company received a judgement issued by the
People’s Court, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, pursuant to which, among
others, the Company shall repay to the plaintiff the outstanding rental of
approximately RMBO0.63 million plus overdue interests and other costs. The
Company, appealed the above judgement to the Intermediate Court,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province in December 2020. The Company received a
final judgement dated 3 November 2021 issued by the Intermediate People’s
Court, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province which rejected the appeal of the
Company and upheld the original judgement issued by the People’s Court,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province. The Company had recognised provision
under other payables for the claim.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Saved for those disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have any
other contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

anagement Discussion and Analysi
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

On 23 May 2021, the Company and 2= %5 (& JII) ¥ 1l B R 2 A (Hui Zhi
(Shenzhen) Technology Company Limited.*) entered into a non-legally binding
letter of intent for strategic cooperation in relation to developing the business
of providing online digital logistics services. Details are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 23 May 2021. As at the date of this
report, neither definitive agreement nor transactions had been consummated.

Saved for those disclosed in this annual report, there were no other significant
investments held by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
there were no other material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries by the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

OUTLOOK

At the turn of the year, we finally saw the light at the end of the tunnel
regarding the heavy impact caused by the pandemic. The strict COVID-
contained measures in Greater China have substantially been relaxed in the
first quarter of 2023. The US Federal Reserve also took a less aggressive
approach in its contractionary policy. Although the Group will maintain a
cautious stance and make tactical adjustments where appropriate, we will be
ready to capture new opportunities and adjust our priorities and resources,
taking into account the prevailing external factors and new norms. Being one-
stop service provider to our customers, our aim is to respond to changing
customer needs by providing enhanced business solutions through value-
added services. The new wholly-owned subsidiary in Kashi, Xinjiang, was set
up to explore the business of online information and digital marketing services.
Through private market place structure and data management platform,
customers can designate advertising to specific website media and reach
target audience.

While the Group will develop and explore ways to improve its financial
performance and broaden the sources of revenue, it is the Group’s strategy to
do so within acceptable risk level and capital requirement. It will continue to
control its costs of operation and select the appropriate product mix and
regions that the Group should focus on and devote its resources to. We will
also review the performance of our existing business portfolio and make
suitable investment decisions. Subject to the review results, we do not
preclude the possibility that we may dispose the whole or part of our existing
business portfolio and/or change the asset allocation of our businesses.

The Group may restructure its existing debts and implement debt and/or
equity fund raising plan(s) to satisfy the financing needs and improve its
financial position in the event suitable fund raising opportunities arise. In these
regards, the Company will publish announcement as and when appropriate
according to the requirements under the applicable listing rules.

* For identification purpose only

Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / & & #f & 2022

FFANEARE  HEARANERKERE
EUREARREHEREEN ARG

RIZZ—FRA-+T=0 ARAEEE(RY)KMNHE
PR A B h A B S RIB AR S B IR AR ) ZE 5 HE 1T B
B WRAIVEERORNINERSE - FBERNARR A
RZEB—FRAAZT=AMNRE - RARERH - WAE

BRAFHRATBEEIN  BE_T_—_F+_A=+—HIF
B AEEHERSEEMEARE  URBE-_T_—
TZAZ+—BIEFE - AEEBEEME AR ERK
FERIE -

RE

FRZE  BAERRIEBRREPER T EZENES -
RPEHNBENEBREN S _=FE - FTEABHRE - =
SR TBRIE A AN IRRER - BEAREMREE
RAEE  TEEEFRFETRERER  ERFERER M E
BENFHERRBERITINIRZRIERE - BERMNE
KEERER - (EREP —UMARBHEER - RMEERSB
BERGRICRCEBERT R UEHTHE(CNELH
ko EBRARLMEEMBRR - URREEEMRE
FloEHIRBER - BBLAR SIS RIREMEIREE
Fa - BPABESRMNEERNERBYRERRETR -

HENN SR B 3 R MR R S BB TSR MR KA IR E
T BE R ARR B A R AR R B AR E SRR P RER
EOBRBE o NSRS A AR PR ) HE AR MR AN R B R E B
BT RIRABRNESEERAES MR - P ERFES
EBEANTE  UHMBEENRERTE - RIFRTE
PSR ERE AR A EBAS R REF RN
EBMEBEREMN AN

HERAESRERE  AEEEEHEERAEBLEHRE
BR/SREEERE - LONERE BRI 2 E A ik
T BLULTTE - ARBSREER LWRAWRE - £EE
BREMAE ©




eport of the Directors

EEEWE

The Directors submit herewith their report, together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company incorporated in Cayman
Islands. The Company and its subsidiaries engaged in the research and
development, manufacture, sale of electronic devices and provision of
application software development and online information and digital marketing
services. The Group provides one-stop services to our customers by offering
design, prototyping/sampling, manufacturing, assembling, packaging and
marketing of their products.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group as required under Schedule 5 to the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including an indication of likely future
development in the Group’s business, is set out in the section of
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report. Those discussion
forms part of this report of the Directors.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses and
prospects would be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties including
business risks, operational risks and financial management risks. Details of
principal risks faced by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2022
are set out in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” Section of this
annual report. The details of financial risk management policies and practices
of the Group are set out in note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those mentioned
above which are not known to the Group or which may not be material now
but could turn out to be material in the future.

Key Performance Indicators
The key performance indicators are detailed in the Financial Review set out in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis”.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

Save as disclosed in this annual report, to the best of the knowledge of the
Board and the management, the Group complied with the relevant laws and
regulations which constitutes material impact on the business and operation
of the Company and its subsidiaries in all material respects during the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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Key Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers

The Group recognizes that employees are key assets of the Group and
endeavours to provide a caring environment to them with emphasis on team
spirit. We value on staff talents and believe that they can grow and develop
with the Group. The Group also maintains good relationships with our
customers and suppliers and continuously provides quality products and
services to our customers with the supplies from our established suppliers.

Environmental Policies

The Group strives to minimise its impact on the environment by reducing its
electricity consumption and encouraging recycle of office supplies and other
materials. We are committed to building an environmentally-friendly corporate
environment that pays close attention to conserving natural resources. For
further details, please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report of this annual report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The analysis of geographical locations of the Company and its subsidiaries for
the year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements. Details
of the segment information of the Group for the year are set out in note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements, is set out on page 143 to 144 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the state
of the affairs of the Company and the Group as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 66 to 69 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity and
note 33(b) to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

The Company’s reserve available for distribution as at 31 December 2022 was
Nil.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhou Chuang Qiang
Mr. Wang Li

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Tik Tung

Mr. Man Wai Lun

Mr. Zheng Wan Zhang (resigned on 13 February 2023)

The Company has entered into a service agreement with each of our current
executive Directors for an initial term of 3 years since appointment, and shall
continue thereafter and can be terminated by not less than 3 months’ prior
notice in writing. Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a service agreement with the Company for a term of 3 years since
appointment, and shall continue thereafter from year to year until terminated
by 1 month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other party.

In accordance with Article 108 of the Company’s articles of association, at
each annual general meeting one third of the Directors for the time being, shall
retire from office by rotation. In accordance with Article 112 of the Company’s
articles of association, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the Company
after his appointment. Accordingly, Mr. Zhou Chuang Qiang and Mr. Man Wai
Lun retired from office at the annual general meeting of the Company held on
23 June 2022, and being eligible, offered themselves for re-election. By taking
into account its nomination policy, the nomination committee of the Company
considered that the cultural background, educational background and work
experience of each of Mr. Zhou and Mr. Man can bring further contributions to
the Board’s diversity. The committee assessed and reviewed Mr. Man’s
annual written confirmation of independence based on the independence
criteria as set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and confirmed that he
remained independent. It also evaluated the performance of each of the
retiring Directors during the year ended 31 December 2021 and satisfied with
their performance. The re-appointment of Directors was reviewed by the
nomination committee of the Company and upon its nomination, the Board
recommended that the retiring Directors stood for re-election. Both Mr. Zhou
and Mr. Man were re-elected as Directors at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 23 June 2022.
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Mr. Wang Li and Mr. Wong Tik Tung shall retire from office at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-elections.
None of the Directors proposed for re-elections at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence. The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

We actively refine our staff structure by adopting the human resources
philosophy of “grow and develop together” and offer reasonable yet
competitive compensation packages. The Group has developed a number of
rules and regulations on recruitment, dismissal, promotion and other benefits
and incentives, such as the grants of share options. We also make
contributions to statutory mandatory provident fund schemes to our qualified
Hong Kong employees and social security fund schemes operated and
managed by the PRC Government to our qualified PRC employees.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 28 employees (2021: 45).

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five individuals with highest
emoluments of the Group are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME
Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out in note 17 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION FOR THE BENEFIT
OF DIRECTORS

According to Article 191 of the Company’s articles of association, the
Directors shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of assets of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their executors or
administrators, shall or may incur or sustain. During the year, the Company
has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of its legal action against
its Directors and remained in force as of the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY ASSOCIATED COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short position of the Directors and
the Company’s chief executive in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests or short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or as recorded in the register maintained by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors of
listed issuers as referred to in Rule 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules were
as follows:

ESRERTRAEBRAQRAREMEBEE LT
Bt - HRROREEEFHESERAE

REZZBZZF+ZA=1+—H ESRARREETHAE
RARRREEEEE (ERERESFKAEKD ((EHRE
BRG] EXVED) B - BERGD REEFS - HERE
BHRHEEOIEXVEE T R8HIAMEG AR B R FT
Mg AR (BIEIRIEEHF RS RIIMZ SRR E 1E
PR BHANTAEEIAR)  LIRBEFS R EE0E
352 EHIMERARR B FER B MARER AR - 3k
RIEGEM E T ARRIE .46 6 EE5.67 KFTE EBITAE
RRITR SR TE LR RITHE AR B KB AT H e a5 SOK
BT

Long positions R
Ordinary Shares EEl)q
Percentage of
Number of the Company’s
Capacity and Shares issued share
Name nature of interest Class of Shares (note 1) capital
LEE NG|
BRHEE BRITRA
®E S RERME B4R (Ktat1) ZADH
Zhou Chuang Qiang Beneficial owner Share options (note 2) 10,000,000 (L) 0.97%
EEEE:R E=HEAA AR (f1512)
Notes: BaE -
1. The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shareholder’s interest in the share 1. FEILI ERRREAARREIEZNTE -
capital of the Company.
2. These represented the interests in underlying shares in respect of share options 2. ZER B BAQRAREERES R ERR D ER -

granted by the Company.

Save as disclosed above and so far as is known to the Directors, none of the
Directors and the Company’s chief executive had any interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests or short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by
directors of listed issuers as referred to in Rule 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, the following persons (other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO:

FERREEMALTREDTRG REER D
HEERKE

RZZB-_—_F+-A=+—8"  TIAT(EEHARAE
BITHABBIN RAR BN KA D P #EEELAR
BEASRBEEHE 36 IKATFENSCMOEZSIAR

Long positions R
Ordinary Shares EgEl)q
Percentage of
Number of the Company’s
Capacity and Shares issued share
Name nature of interest Class of Shares (note 1) capital
LERNNE|
BRBEE BRITRA
HE a8 S RERME B4R (Ktat1) ZADHE
Martford Limited (note 2) Beneficial owner Ordinary Shares 316,981,250 (L) 30.75%
Martford Limited (K15 2) BHERA BRI
Wu Xiongbin (note 3) Beneficial owner Ordinary Shares 174,469,166 (L) 16.93%
RIERE (F17£3) ERAAA AR
Pu Wei Beneficial owner Ordinary Shares 88,008,000 (L) 8.54%
TR E=HEAA il
Notes: Mtat -
1. The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shareholder’s interest in the share 1. [L] EEREAERARBRAEZN T A -

capital of the Company.

2. The 316,981,250 Shares were held by Martford Limited which is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Wang Lianghai.

3. On 17 June 2021, Mr. Wu Xiongbin subscribed convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$20 million which can be convertible into 166,666,666
conversion Shares at initial conversion price of HK$0.12 per conversion Share.

Save as disclosed above and so far as is known to the Directors, as at 31
December 2022, no other interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save for the share option scheme of the Group, at no time during the year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company, its controlling shareholders or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the
Company and the director’s connected party had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors confirm that none of the controlling shareholders or Directors
and their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) is
interested in any business apart from the business operated by the Group
which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the business
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2022.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The share option scheme (the “Scheme”) adopted by the Company on 20
June 2014 is a share incentive scheme and is established to recognize and
acknowledge the contributions that eligible participants (as defined therein,
including employees) have made or may make to the Group. The Scheme
shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing from the
adoption date (i.e. 20 June 2014) pursuant to its terms. The remaining life of
the Scheme was up to 19 June 2024.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.
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A share option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
at any time during a period as the Board may determine which shall not
exceed 10 years from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early
termination thereof. The acceptance amount for the share option is determined
by the Board from time to time. The exercise price per share under the
Scheme (the “Exercise Price”) shall be a price determined by the Board, but
shall not be less than the highest of:

(i) the closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the relevant share option,
which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the
business of dealing in securities (the “Trading Day”);

(ii) an amount equivalent to the average closing price of a Share as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five Trading
Days immediately preceding the date of grant of the relevant share
option; and

(i) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant.

The 2019 and 2022 Grants

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
share options granted under the Scheme and any other schemes must not, in
aggregate, exceed 10% of the Shares in issue unless approved by the
Shareholders. Share options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme will not be counted for the purpose of calculating such limit. The limit
may be renewed by the Shareholders in general meeting from time to time
provided always that the limit so renewed must not exceed 10% of the Shares
in issue as at the date of approval of such renewal by Shareholders in general
meeting. Upon such renewal, all share options granted under the Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company (including those exercised,
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme or
any other share option schemes of the Company) prior to the approval of such
renewal shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating the limit as
renewed. The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all share options granted to an Eligible Participant (including exercised and
outstanding share options) in any 12-month (i.e. maximum entitlement) period
must not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue from time to time, unless approved
by the Shareholders in general meeting.
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2019 Grant

Upon the refreshment of the limit of the Scheme by the Shareholders in
general meeting on 21 June 2018, the number of Shares which may be
issued upon the exercise of all share options granted or to be granted
under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company is 68,722,500 Shares, representing 10% of the issued Shares
as at 21 June 2018. On 4 June 2019, it was resolved by the Company
to grant 68,720,000 share options with exercise price of HK$0.2412
per Share entitling the grantees to subscribe for 68,720,000 Shares.
Details are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 4 June
2019. As at 31 December 2022, 25,192,000 effective share options
were outstanding.

2022 Grant

Upon the refreshment of the limit of the Scheme by the Shareholders in
general meeting on 26 June 2020, the number of Shares which may be
issued upon the exercise of all share options granted or to be granted
under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company is 103,073,897 Shares, representing 10% of the issued
Shares as at 26 June 2020. On 10 June 2022, it was resolved by the
Company to grant 103,072,000 share options with exercise price of
HK$0.032 per Share entitling the grantees to subscribe for 103,072,000
Shares. The closing price of the Shares immediately before the grant
date was HK$0.032 per Share. Details are set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 10 June 2022. As at 31 December 2022,
103,072,000 effective share options were outstanding.

The total number of share options that may be further granted under
the Scheme as at the date of this annual report is 1,897 Shares,
representing 0.0002% of the issued share capital of the Company. As
at the date of this annual report, the total number of share options
granted and outstanding under the Scheme is 174,142,308 Shares,
representing 12.44% of the issued share capital of the Company.
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BIEBEGEM LR AIFE23.071 REE=-FE=-_=_F+=A
=+—HIE+ZEA  FEETHEREFBRESDERT

Pursuant to Rules 23.07 of the GEM Listing Rules, particulars and movements
of share options under the Scheme during the twelve months ended 31

December 2022 are set out as follows: TREATR :
Lapsed/ Exercise price
On Granted Exercised cancelled On per share
Date of grant 1 January during the during the duringthe 31 December  Vesting option
of the options 2022 period period period 2022 period Exercise period (HK$)
R 7 ShiERE
Grantee BRE -3 I3 TR
REA HHAH -B-8 ilatehe BaTE XN/E¥ t-B=t-B  GEY figid: (Bm)
Director
Bz
Mr. Zhou Chuang Qiang 10 June 2022 - 10,000,000 - 10,000,000  NA 10 June 2022 - 0.032
5Lt it S TER 9June 2032
~ATH “E--#XEtRE
(A) ZZ=CERANA
Other staff
HET
Employees 4 June 2019 12,596,000 - - 12,596,000 4 June 2019 - 4 Jung 2020 - 0.2412
8 ZE-NE 3June 2020 3 June 2029
~ANA “Z-NEXANAZE ZE-EE5ARAER
ZECZERAZH ZZNFAAZH
Employees 10 June 2022 - 46,536,000 - 46,536,000 10 June 2022 - 10 June 2023 - 0.032
8 e 9 June 2023 9 June 2032
~AtTH “Z--EXBTRE ZE-ZERETRE
B ZEZZERANA ZZ=CERANA
Employees 4 June 2019 12,596,000 - - 12,596,000 4 June 2019 - 4 Jung 2021 - 0.2412
8 —E-NE 3 June 2021 3.June 2029
~ANA ZE-NEXAEAE ZEC-EXAmAZ
ZZ-%/~A=H ZZNFAAZH
Employees 10 June 2022 - 46,536,000 - 46,536,000 10 June 2022 - 10 June 2024 - 0.032
8 ZEICE 9 June 2024 9 June 2032
~ATH k- Sk 22 B 2 Y ZEZREARTRE
© —“Z-MEXAAA “Z=-%XANA
Total 25,192,000 103,072,000 - 128264,000
3t
Notes: B -

(1) The options granted to the director were vested immediately.

2 The options granted to the employees have a vesting period of 2 years, i.e. one-
half of the options were vested on the first (1st) anniversary (round down to the
nearest option) and the remaining one-half of the options were vested on the

second (2nd) anniversary of the date of grant respectively.

3) Details of the accounting policy for equity-settled share-based payments and the
valuation model are set out in note 5(r) and 34 to financial statements,
respectively. The variables and assumptions of the valuation may be subjective
and subject to limitations and uncertainties. Changes in estimates and inputs can

materially affect the valuation.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the convertible bonds and share option scheme of the Group, no
other equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group or existed
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Details of the convertible bonds and share option scheme of the Group are
disclosed in “Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure” under
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Share Option Schemes” under
“Report of the Directors”, respectively.

BORROWINGS
Particulars of borrowings as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are set out in
note 28 and 29 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December
2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association, or the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, that would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on the information that is publicly available
to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the reporting period, the revenue from sales of goods or rendering of
services to the largest customer and the five largest customers of the Group
represented 31.0% and 79.0% of the total revenue of the Group, respectively.
The purchases from the largest supplier and the five largest suppliers of the
Group accounted for 64.0% and 100.0% of the total purchase of the Group,
respectively. To the best knowledge of the Board, none of the Directors, their
close associates or any shareholder holding more than 5% of the issued share
capital of the Company, had any beneficial interests in the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2022 are disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements. These related party transactions does not fall under the definition
of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules and no disclosure is accordingly
required.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Up to the date of this report, there was no event relevant to the business or
financial performance of the Group that came to the attention of the Directors
after the year ended 31 December 2022.

AUDITORS

On 20 December 2019, World Link CPA Limited resigned as the auditors of
the Company due to its reorganization under which the audit engagement
director and the audit engagement team joining another professional
accounting firm. McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited (“McM”) has
been appointed as the auditors of the Company with effect from 20 December
2019 to fill the casual vacancy.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 were audited by McM. A resolution will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting to reappoint McM as the auditors of the

Group.

On behalf of the Board

Zhou Chuang Qiang
Executive Director

Hong Kong,
29 March 2023
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhou Chuang Qiang (“Mr. Zhou”), aged 58, has been an executive
director of the Company since 4 June 2019. Mr. Zhou is also the Compliance
Officer, Authorized Representative, a member of the Remuneration Committee
and Compliance Committee of the Company. He is also the director of various
subsidiaries of the Company. He mainly engages in production management,
research and development management and marketing management. Mr.
Zhou has accumulated rich work experience in management and leadership
positions. Since 2017, he has served as the marketing manager and the
deputy general manager of Shenzhenshi Jingxingcheng Technology
Electronics Co., Ltd* (RYIIT & E HAEHXEFHRAF]). From 2013 to 2017,
he was the deputy general manager of Shenzhenshi Keming Property
Investment Co., Ltd* (FIIITEl 4 B 1% E B R A 7). He has been appointed
as an executive director and an authorized representative of China Clean
Energy Technology Group Limited (stock code: 2379), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from 13 June 2022 to 3 October
2022.

Mr. Wang Li (“Mr. Wang”), aged 35, has been an executive Director of the
Company since 17 July 2017. Mr. Wang holds a master’s degree issued by
Rutgers, the State University of New Jersey, majoring in quantitative finance.
Mr. Wang is currently the director of Alternative Asset Management
Department of Haitong International Securities Company Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Haitong International Securities Group Limited (the shares
of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 665)). Mr. Wang has
extensive experience in the area of merger and acquisition, listed company
corporate action and derivatives trading, and has participated in a number of
deals relating to such areas.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Man Wai Lun (“Mr. Man”), aged 50, has been an independent non-
executive Director of the Company since 26 July 2021. He has been the
chairman of the audit committee; a member of the nomination committee and
compliance committee of the Company since then. Mr. Man obtained his
diploma in Business Management from the School of Continuing Education,
Hong Kong Baptist University in 2003 and obtained a bachelor degree of
accountancy from the University of South Australia in 2007. Mr. Man has over
16 years of experience in accounting. Mr. Man is currently also an executive
director of Life Healthcare Group Limited (stock code: 928), Century Group
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 2113), and an independent non-
executive director of Elegance Optical International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 907) and Momentum Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 1152). He
was previously an independent non-executive director of China Trustful Group
Limited (stock code: 8265 a listed company in Hong Kong from 26 January
2011 to 12 November 2021) until 9 November 2020 and an executive director
of CT Environmental Group Limited (stock code: 1363 a listed company in
Hong Kong from 25 September 2013 to 10 September 2021) until 19 April
2021. He has been appointed as an executive director of China Clean Energy
Technology Group Limited (stock code: 2379) from 13 June 2022 to 3
October 2022. The above companies are all listed companies in Hong Kong.
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Mr. Wong Tik Tung (“Mr. Wong”), aged 66, has been an independent non-

executive Director of the Company since 17 July 2017. He has also been the
chairman of the remuneration committee and compliance committee of the
Company and a member of each of the nomination committee and audit
committee of the Company since then. Mr. Wong, FCCA, CPA, has over thirty
years’ experience in the fields of accounting, auditing and financial
management. Being an accountant in Hong Kong, he is also a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA) and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Save as disclosed herein, there is no other relationship between each of

Directors and the senior management as required to be disclosed under the
GEM Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group has recognized the importance of transparency and accountability,
and the Board considers that enhanced public accountability and corporate
governance are beneficial for the healthy development of the Group, improving
customer and supplier confidence. We believe that this can create long term
value for the shareholders of the Company and is beneficial for the Group’s
sustainable growth. Saved as disclosed below, the Company adopted and
complied with the principles and code provisions (“Code Provision(s)”) in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the
GEM Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2022. The Group
strives to achieve sound corporate governance standards as far as practicable
and utilizes our resources efficiently and effectively.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, CHAIRMAN, MANAGEMENT
AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for promoting the success of the Group and its
business by leading and supervising the Company’s affairs. It is responsible
for determining the Group’s objectives, overall strategies and policies,
approving business plan, evaluating operating, instiling corporate culture and
financial performance. It is also responsible to align the Company’s culture
with its purpose, values and strategy. All the Directors should make decision
objectively in the interests of the Company and act with integrity, lead by
example and promote the desired culture. The overall responsibilities of the
Board include considering and making decisions on the following matters:

i) Setting the cooperate goals of the Group and formulating the Group’s
strategy and monitoring the implementation;

(ii) Diversification and extension of activities into new business area;

@iy Approving the annual, half year and quarterly results;

(iv)  Dividend policy;

(v) Material acquisitions and disposal;

(v Reviewing and monitoring the Group’s internal control systems;

(vi)  Monitoring the performance of the Management; and

(vii)  Determining and reviewing the composition and diversity of the Board.
The Board is also responsible for the corporate governance functions under
the paragraph A.2.1 of the CG Code and will review and monitor the corporate
governance principles and practices to ensure compliance. It takes primary

responsibility for ensuring that good corporate governance practices and
procedures are established.
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Under the Board’s direction and supervision, the affair and daily management,
administration and operation of the Company are responsible by the executive
Directors and the senior management collectively. The delegated functions
and assignments are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be
obtained from the Board prior to entering into any significant transactions by
the Management. The overall responsibilities of the Management include
considering and making decisions on the following matters:

(i) Implementing the Group’s policy and strategies set by the Board;
(ii) Strategic planning of different business and functions;

(iii) Closely monitoring operational and financial results in accordance with
plans and budgets;

(ivy  Putting adequate operational, planning and financial control systems in
place; and

(V) Managing the Group’s day-to-day business.

Code Provision C.2 stipulates the role of the chairman of the Board. Code
provision C.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company did not have the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer. The day-to-day
management of the Group’s business is handled by the executive Directors
and the senior management collectively. The Board considers that the
principle of balance of power and authority is achieved by the check and
balance between the executive directors and the independent non-executive
directors and the functions and responsibilities of the chairman under Code
Provisions C.2.2 to C.2.9 are, in practice, delegated to a designated director.
We believe that the present arrangement is adequate to ensure an effective
management and control of the Group’s business operations and the Board
will keep monitoring and review the arrangement.

Code Provision D.1.2 provides that management should provide all members
of the board with monthly updates giving a balanced and understandable
assessment of the issuer’s performance, position and prospects in sufficient
detail to enable the board as a whole and each director to discharge their
duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 17 of the GEM Listing Rules. Previously,
the Board was provided quarterly update and information as and when
appropriate. The Company complied with this Code Provision since the
second quarter of 2022.

As at the date of this report, following the resignation of Mr. Zheng Wan Zhang
on 13 February 2023, the Board comprises four members with two executive
Directors and two independent non-executive Directors while the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of
the Company comprise only two members. This results in non-compliance
with the requirements under Rules 5.05(1) and 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules
and the terms of reference of the respective committees. The Company is in
the process of identifying suitable candidates to fill the vacancy within three
months from 13 February 2023 in order to ensure compliance by the
Company with the requirements under the GEM Listing Rules. Details are set
out in the announcement of the Company dated 13 February 2023.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The composition of the Board has not been changed throughout the year
ended 31 December 2022. Following the resignation of Mr. Zheng Wan Zhang
on 13 February 2023, the Board currently comprises 4 male Directors,
including 2 executive Directors and 2 independent non-executive Directors,
and the Director’s details during the year and up to the date of this annual
report are as set out below:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhou Chuang Qiang
Mr. Wang Li

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Tik Tung

Mr. Man Wai Lun

Mr. Zheng Wan Zhang (resigned on 13 February 2023)

An updated list of Directors identifying their roles and functions has been
published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The
profiles of the Directors, including relationship between Board members, are
set out in the section “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management” of this
annual report.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY AND GENDER DIVERSITY

The Company recognizes that diversity at the Board level will support the
sustainable development of the Group. The Board has adopted the Board
diversity policy, which has been published on the website of the Company,
since 20 June 2014 and reviewed its Board composition on a yearly basis.
The policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the Board that should
have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Group’s business and compliance with policies.
Board diversity has been considered from a number of aspects, including but
not limited to educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge, length of service, age, gender, cultural and ethnicity and any other
factors that the Board may consider relevant and applicable from time to time.
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The nomination committee reviews and monitors the implementation on the REAZECTHRTREREESLIERRHEEER -
Board diversity policy periodically and provides its recommendation to the  ¥HEBESREEHEEEZ - R -_T-—F  ZEEXZ L
Board. During 2022, the committee reviews the composition of the Board ~ AE#@ES AKX - BHEATRHEE

from diversified angles, including the followings:

No. of Directors

BEEAY
Independence Executive Directors 2
B BWITES
Independent non-executive Directors 3
BIFNITES
Service years < b5 years 2
PR 75 HA kS
5 years 3
5%
Age group 31-40 1
FheuE Rl 31ZE405%
41-50 1
41 E505%
51-60 2
51 % 60 5%
61-70 1
612 70 5%
Gender Male 5
145 B

Factors such as educational background, professional experience, skills and ~ HEB & - FELR - HERABREA=ZTEMAZEHE
knowledge are also considered in achieving diversity for the benefit of the — PAZEHZTlb  BRARFZHEBEREREER - EFGHK
Group’s various business development and management. Board members BZEABEEZFREW  CREAEUETESHG LB
should possess appropriate professionalism, experience and trustworthiness B o

in performing their duties and functions.

The following measurable objectives were adopted for the purpose of AEMEFEZIUCEE  FRANUTAIEHEEE -
implementation of the board diversity policy:

1. The Company should comply with the GEM Listing Rules requirements 1. RABETRETCGEM LR NEBESSHEK 2
from time to time on board composition. BIE ©

2. The number of independent non-executive Directors should be not less 2. BUNTEEFZABETIOR=Z2REFE=SZ
than three and one-third of the Board. —H)AEL o

3. Atleast one of the independent non-executive Directors has appropriate 3. BLE—EBUFNTEETREHENEEE RS
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial BEHIEENVBERER

management expertise.

4, At least one Director has the professional or intensive business 4. BLE—REFABAEEANEITEREBNHEE
experience of the Group’s industry and operations. KL EREBHLER -
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During 2022, the Board has achieved the measurable objectives.

The Board would diversify its members according to the Company’s situations
and need, as well as taking into account the revised CG code, such as that in
relation to the gender diversity. Taking into account the Group’s business
model, specific needs and industry nature, the Group has taken and will
continue to take steps to promote diversity at all levels of its workforce.
Currently, the male to female ratio in the workforce of the Group is
approximately 6:4. Details of the gender ratio in the workforce is disclosed
under B of the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of this annual
report. The Board believes that, without affecting the business and
development, consideration should be given to the ability and gender diversity
when recruiting new directors and employees. It is prohibited to adopt a
minority gender discrimination policy in recruitment. Opportunities for
employment, training and career development are equally opened to all eligible
employees without discrimination. The Company strives to have at least a
director of a different gender by 31 December 2024.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Company recognizes that Board independence is critical to sound
corporate governance and has established mechanisms to ensure
independent views and inputs from any Directors, including independent non-
executive Directors, are conveyed to the Board for objective decision making.
The governance framework and the following mechanisms are reviewed
annually by the Board:

1. During 2022, three out of the five Directors are independent non-
executive Directors, representing 60% of the Board and meets the
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules that at least one-third of the
Board are independent directors and at least one of whom has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise under Rule 5.02(1)(2) and 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules.

2. The Company has entered into a service agreement with each of our
Directors for an initial term of three years and none of the independent
non-executive Directors has served the Company for more than 9
years.

3. All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and eligible for re-
election in accordance with the Company’s articles and association. At
each annual general meeting, not less than one-third of the Directors
then in office shall retire and every Director is subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. Directors who are appointed to
fill casual vacancies shall hold office only until the next following general
meeting after their appointment, and are subject to re-election by
shareholders of the Company. Separate ordinary resolutions will be put
forward to the shareholders of the Company in relation to the proposed
re-election of each of the Directors.
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4. The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent. All independent non-executive
Directors are identified as such in all corporate communications of the
Company containing the names of the Directors.

5. The Nomination Committee will assess the independence, qualification
and time commitment of a candidate who is nominated or reelected to
be an independent non-executive Director and also the continued
independence of existing independent non-executive directors and their
time commitments annually. The Remuneration Committee will conduct
the performance evaluation of the independent non-executive Directors
annually to assess their contributions.

6. No equity-based remuneration with performance-related elements has
been granted to independent non-executive Directors.

7. All Directors are encouraged to express their constructive advices and
independent views freely during the Board and committee meetings.
External independent professionals could be engaged at the expense of
the Group as required by individual Directors.

8. A Director who has a material interest in a contract, arrangement or
other proposal shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any Board
resolution approving the same.

TRAINING, INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Directors are continuously updated on the statutory and regulatory regime and
the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities by
the Company. Directors are also encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Up to the date of this report, all Directors have confirmed to the Company that
they have participated trainings by attending seminars, conferences and/or
reading material, webcast, newspapers, journals and updates related to the
economy, the company’s business or directors’ duties and responsibilities.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors of the Company on terms no less exacting than
the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). Having made specific enquiries in writing to
the Directors, each of the Directors confirmed that he/she had complied with
the Model Code in connection with the Company’s securities for the year
ended 31 December 2022. The Company has also established written
guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model Code regarding securities
transactions by relevant employees (including the employees and Directors of
the subsidiaries or holding company) who are likely to possess inside
information of the Company and/or its securities.
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to discuss the overall strategy
as well as the operation and financial performance of the Group. In addition to
the circulation of 2 written board resolutions, there were 4 regular Board
meetings and other 2 Board meetings (including teleconference meetings) held
in 2022. The attendance record of each Director at Board meetings, audit
committee meetings, remuneration committee meeting, nomination committee
meeting and general meeting during the year ended 31 December 2022 is set
out in the following table:

EE=ggE

EEERETHRTEE  FIREERBUARAEEANLE
EMBERR -R-E-—F B TEM2HEEEESRE
TN BRITANTEHEEFSGEARBII2RESTSEH(B
BEHeH) BE-_T-—F+_A=+—RHILFE %
EENEEEEH  FREEgeR FHEESEE IR
CEESEHEMERRE 2 HECHEHAN TE -

Attendance record of meetings held in 2022

CECCERETERANLRLER

Annual

General Audit  Remuneration Nomination ~ Compliance
Name of member Meeting Board Committee Committee Committee Committee
RE#% BREBFAE EX® ENZEE FMZEE REZEE  4RZE%
Number of total meetings 1 6 5 1 1 1
R
Number of Meetings attended/Total
BHEEHELNY/ B
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Zhou Chuang Qiang 11 66  NATER 11 NATER 1
BRI Ev
Mr. Wang Li 0/1 46 NATER NATER NATER NATER
TREE
Independent non-executive Directors
BUFHTES
Mr. Zheng Wan Zhang 11 6/6 5/5 11 11 NATER
ey
Mr. Wong Tik Tung il 4/6 5/5 il il il
THREE
Mr. Man Wai Lun 11 6/6 5/5 NATER 1 1
NEERE
30 Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2022



0lgole -
EERERHRE

BOARD COMMITTEES

As an important part of sound corporate governance practices and for
supervision of the overall affairs of the Company in various areas, the Board
has established four Board committees, namely, the audit committee, the
remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the compliance
committee. All Board committees have respective specific terms of reference
clearly defining their powers and responsibilities, which are posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. All the Board committees
should report to the Board on their decisions or recommendations made, and
where appropriate, can seek independent professional advice to perform their
duties at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee (“Audit Committee”) with
written terms of reference that are in conformity of the requirements of the CG
Code which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee composed of
the 3 independent non- executive Directors, namely Mr. Man Wai Lun, Mr.
Zheng Wan Zhang and Mr. Wong Tik Tung and chaired by Mr. Man Wai Lun,
with all members being independent non-executive Directors of the Company
in full compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules. Following the
resignation of Mr. Zheng Wan Zhang on 13 February 2023, the Audit
Committee comprises two independent non-executive Directors only. This
results in non-compliance with the requirements under Rule 5.28 of the GEM
Listing Rules and the terms of reference of the committee. The Company is in
the process of identifying suitable candidates to fill the vacancy within three
months from 13 February 2023 in order to ensure compliance by the
Company with the requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, 5 Audit Committee meetings were
held and the members’ attendance is shown on page 30 of this annual report.

The functions of the Audit Committee include the following:

(i) Appointment of the Company’s auditors
(@) to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of its
resignation or dismissal;

(b)  to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor;

() to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee
should discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the audit
and reporting obligations before the audit commences;
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(d)  to develop and implement policy on engaging an external auditor

to supply non-audit services. For this purpose, “external auditor”
includes any entity that is under common control, ownership or
management with the audit firm or any entity that a reasonable
and informed third party knowing all relevant information would
reasonably conclude to be part of the audit firm nationally or
internationally. The Audit Committee should report to the Board,
identifying and making recommendations on any matters where
action or improvement is needed; and

to discuss problems and reservations arising from the quarterly (if
any), interim and final audits and any matters the external
auditors may wish to discuss (in the absence of the Board and
other employees of the Group at the discretion of the Audit
Committee where necessary).

(i) Review of the Company’s financial information

(@)

32

to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements and
annual report and accounts, half-year report and quarterly
reports, and to review significant financial reporting judgements
contained in them. In reviewing these reports before submission
to the Board, the Audit Committee should focus particularly on:
(1) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

) major judgmental areas;

©)) significant adjustments resulting from audit;

(4) the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

5) compliance with accounting standards;

6) compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

(7) any connected transactions and their impact on the
profitability of the Company;

8) items requiring disclosure; and

(9)  the cash flow position;
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(b) regarding point (a) above:

(1) members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the
Board and senior management and the Audit Committee
must meet, at least twice a year, with the Company’s
auditors; and

(2)  the Audit Committee should consider any significant or
unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected in the
report and accounts, it should give due consideration to
any matters that have been raised by the Company’s staff
responsible for the accounting and financial reporting
function, compliance officer or auditors.

(ili) Overseeing of the Company’s financial reporting system
and internal control procedures
(@) to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and
risk management systems;

(b) to discuss the internal control system with management to
ensure that management has performed its duty to have an
effective internal control system. This discussion should include
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function;

(c) to consider major investigations findings on internal control
matters as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and
management’s response to these findings;

(d) where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-ordination
between the internal and external auditors, and to ensure that the
internal audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Company, and to review and
monitor its effectiveness;

(e)  to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

) to review the external auditor’s management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditor to management about the
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and
management’s response;

(9) to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’s management letter;
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(h)  to review arrangements employees of the Company can use, in
confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters and ensuring
that proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent
investigation of these matters and for appropriate follow-up
action;

(i) to report to the Board on the matters in the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report in
Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules;

() to report to the Board on the matters set out in the terms of
reference of the Audit Committee;

(k) to establish a whistleblowing policy and system for employees
and those who deal with the Company (e.g. customers and
suppliers) to raise concerns, in confidence, with the audit
committee about possible improprieties in any matter related to
the Company; and

(0] to review the disclosure in the Company’s interim and annual
reports regarding any regulatory deficiencies and remedial
actions.

Major accomplishments of the Audit Committee in 2022 comprised the
following:

(@) reviewed the financial statements for disclosure on a quarterly,
half-yearly and annually basis, where applicable;

(b) reviewed the external auditor’s significant findings and
management’s response to the recommendation raised, if any;

(c) reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system and the
adequacy of the accounting and financial reporting functions of
the Group;

(d) reviewed and approved the external auditor’s statutory audit
scope and the letter of representation to be given by the Board;

and

(e) considered and approved the external audit fees and
engagement letters.
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The Board has conducted annual review of the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems for the year ended 31
December 2022 through the Audit Committee. For details, please refer to the
section of “Risk Management and Internal Control” of this Corporate
Governance Report.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on
the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditors for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and recommended approval to
the Board.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a remuneration committee (‘Remuneration
Committee”) with written terms of reference in accordance with the
requirements of the CG Code. In accordance with provisions set out in the CG
Code are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration Committee
composed of 3 Directors, namely Mr. Wong Tik Tung, Mr. Zhou Chuang Qiang
and Mr. Zheng Wan Zhang, and chaired by Mr. Wong Tik Tung. Following the
resignation of Mr. Zheng Wan Zhang on 13 February 2023, the Remuneration
Committee comprises two members only and is not complied with the
requirement of the terms of reference of the committee. The Company is in
the process of identifying suitable candidates to fill the vacancy.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, 1 Remuneration Committee meeting
was held and the members’ attendance is shown on page 30 of this report.

The role and functions of the Remuneration Committee include:

i) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management remuneration, of
which a significant portion of Executive Director’s remuneration should
link rewards to corporate and individual performance, and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;

(ii) to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

(iii) either (a) to determine with delegated responsibility the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management; or
(b) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management.
This should include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or termination
of their office or appointment;
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to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of Non-
executive Directors;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the
Company and its subsidiaries;

to review and approve compensation payable to Executive Directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and is
otherwise fair and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal
or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they are
consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding
his own remuneration;

to advise the Company to disclose details of any remuneration payable
to members of senior management by band in its annual reports;

to advise the shareholders of the Company with respect to any service
contracts of Directors that require shareholders’ approval under the
GEM Listing Rules; and

to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Major accomplishments of the Remuneration Committee in 2022 comprised
the following:

U

(i)
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reviewed remuneration policy and matters relating to the contract terms
and remuneration packages and emoluments of Directors and senior
management, including the re-elected ones; and

reviewed and approved the adjustments of remuneration to
independent non-executive Directors and grants of share options to the
executive Director and the employees.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established a nomination committee (“Nomination
Committee”) with written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are in conformity with the requirements of the CG
Code and are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Nomination Committee composed
of 3 Directors, namely Mr. Zheng Wan Zhang, Mr. Man Wai Lun and Mr. Wong
Tik Tung, and chaired by Mr. Zheng Wan Zhang. Following the resignation of
Mr. Zheng Wan Zhang on 13 February 2023, the Nomination Committee
comprises two independent non-executive Directors only and is not complied
with the requirement of the terms of reference of the committee. The Company
is in the process of identifying suitable candidates to fill the vacancy.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, 1 Nomination Committee meeting
was held and the members’ attendance is shown on page 30 of this annual
report.

The role and functions of the Nomination Committee include:

0} to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(ii) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of,
individuals nominated for directorships;

(i) to receive nominations from shareholders or Directors when such are
tendered and to make recommendations to the Board on the candidacy
of the nominees, having regard to the Board’s compositional
requirements and suitability of the nominees;

(iv)  to assess the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors
and where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an
Independent Non-executive Director at the general meeting, it should
set out in the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting why they
believe he should be elected and the reasons why they consider him to
be independent; and

(V) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
re-appointment of Directors, and succession planning for Directors.
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The Nomination Policy is summarized as below that stipulates the key
nomination criteria and principles of the Company for the nomination of
directors and provides what the committee should do in order to give effect to
this policy:

i) review and monitor the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives) of the Board
on an annual basis and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy;

(ii) identify and nominate qualified individuals for appointment as additional
directors or to fill Board vacancies as and when they arise. The criteria
to be adopted by the Board in considering each individual shall be their
ability to contribute to the Board;

(iii) make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of directors and succession planning for directors, in
particular, the chairman and the chief executive officer; and

(iv)  make recommendations to the Board with particular regard to ensuring
a substantial majority of the directors on the Board being independent
of management.

Major accomplishments of the Nomination Committee in 2022 comprised the
following:

i) reviewed and monitored the structure, size, composition and
independence of the Board;

(ii) reviewed and made recommendations to the Board regarding the
re-elected Directors; and

(iii) reviewed and advised the Board regarding updates to the corporate
governance of the GEM Listing Rules and Board diversity.

Compliance Committee

The Company has established a compliance committee (“Compliance
Committee”) with written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the
Compliance Committee are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

The Compliance Committee is currently composed of 3 Directors, namely Mr.
Wong Tik Tung, Mr. Zhou Chuang Qiang and Mr. Man Wai Lun, and chaired
by Mr. Wong Tik Tung.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, 1 Compliance Committee meeting

was held and the members’ attendance is shown on page 30 of this annual
report.

38

REBR(BAENT)RETARRARBEENIERER
EMRA - WRET ZEEAEEZBERERRNERE

=2
Bt
N

FRAREREES2RE  RERAK(BER
A ERRZUCBR)  XHREFKEAAR
AIMARKEMEHEESERNEIRTEE

() HEFEESHNEFARSERESERE 96
REZAEHOAR - EFREBEREARBRE
WERIBASBEALTHEFREHER -

(i) HEEAEBEEUANEEETRI(LERERER
THAH) FEREESRNEE

vy MESSRHEE LERRREESHEANIE
EBIUNERE -

REZEENR T _FERNIBERBETIIRER:

) FERLEREEGNRE  RE  ARRBLMN :

(i) HERERELBRIIAEESRLES

(i) BECGEMLMRABECEETACENRESES

LW REEEEHEE

BREES

ARFEKRIAREZEE([ERESE])  XAEEFIHE
BRI - AT B SRR E R N AT R AR R R
& -

EHRZEERNH=LERAR (BDRREL - BERE
EREBEE)  BDRRELEETE -

BE T "F+-A=+-HULFE AaHRZEFCETT
1TREH  KEHFEBRENAFHREIR -

Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2022



The role and functions of the Compliance Committee include:

U

(i)

(i

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

(ix)

to establish, maintain and approve the compliance system of the
Group;

to support and provide instruction to ensure that each department to
establish, execute and maintain its compliance system;

to approve the compliance manual and ensure it is updated;

to organise education and training programmes on compliance,
including compliance seminars;

to monitor the status of the compliance system and discuss from time
to time with relevant management members on the compliance system
to ascertain what action, if any, is required for ongoing compliance;

to investigate compliance problems and take appropriate measures
when one arises (it may instruct the relevant department(s) to deal with
the problem depending on its nature);

to delegate the day-to-day implementation and monitoring of
compliance system to the compliance offer and company secretary;

to review and monitor the ongoing compliance with the GEM Listing
Rules and relevant laws and regulations;

to note any material deficiencies and take remedial actions if necessary
and at all times keep the Board abreast of any such actions and/or
developments; and

to review the disclosures in the Company’s interim and annual reports
regarding any regulatory deficiencies and remedial actions.

Major accomplishments of the Compliance Committee in 2022 comprised the
following:

U

(i)

reviewed the disclosures in the Company’s interim and annual report
regarding any regulatory deficiencies and remedial actions, if any; and

reviewed changes and updates of the GEM Listing Rules and advised
the Board accordingly.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is ultimately responsible for the risk management of the Group and
has full authority to maintain the soundness and effectiveness of the internal
control system and risk management procedures of the Group to ensure
efficient and effective use of the Group’s resources to assist the Group in
achieving its operation objectives, safeguarding the Group’s assets and
ensuring compliance with laws and regulations.

The Group emphasizes the importance of a sound internal control system
which is also indispensable for mitigating the Group’s key risk exposures. The
Group’s system of internal control is designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage and
eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and fulfilment of the business
objectives. The internal control system is reviewed on an ongoing basis by the
Board in order to make it practical and effective in providing reasonable
assurance in relation to protection of material assets and shareholders’
interests. During the year under review, an external independent consultant
has reviewed the risk management and internal control systems of the Group.
The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to identify,
assess and manage different types of risks. At the first line of defence,
business units are responsible for identifying, assessing and monitoring risk
associated with each business or transaction. The management, as the
second line of defence, defines rule sets and models, provides technical
support, develops new system and oversees portfolio management. It ensures
risks are within acceptable range and that the first line of defence is effective.
As the third line of defense, the external independent consultant assists the
review of the first and second lines of defence. The Group is committed to the
identification, evaluation and management of risks associated with its business
activities through ongoing assessment of a risk register, by considering the
likelihood and impact of each identified risk. The Group has implemented an
effective control system which includes a defined management structure with
limits of authority, a sound management system and periodic review of the
Group’s performance by the Audit Committee and the Board.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the external independent consultant,
engaged to review the Group’s internal control systems and recommend
actions to improve our internal controls, has provided written reports to the
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee has also reviewed the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience, training and budget of the
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions on an annual basis.
Based on the review, the Audit Committee is of the view that the Group’s
internal control system was generally effective.

Based on the above, the Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control system of the Group pursuant to
D.2.1 of the CG Code, covering the material financial, operational and
compliance controls, and considers them generally effective and adequate in
all material respects. With a view of further enhancing the Group’s internal
control system on an ongoing basis, the Group will continue to engage
external professional advisers to conduct review and consider to establish a
formal in-house internal audit department where necessary from time to time,
taking into account the development of the business and the scale and
complexity of our operation in future.
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Inside Information

The Company assesses the likely impact of any unexpected and significant
event that may impact the price of the shares of the Company or their trading
volume and decides whether the relevant information is considered inside
information and needs to be disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable
pursuant to Rules 17.10 and 17.11 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Inside
Information Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO. The executive Directors
have responsibility for approving certain announcements and/or circulars to be
issued by the Company under powers delegated by the Board from time to
time. The Company has put in place procedures on handling and
dissemination of inside information in a timely manner in such a way so as not
to place any person in a privileged dealing position and to allow time for the
market to price the listed securities of the Company with the latest available
information. The Company has appropriate internal control and reporting
systems to identify and assess potential inside information. Dissemination of
inside information of the Company shall be conducted by publishing the
relevant information on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company,
according to the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENT AND REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
Group’s consolidated financial statements, which are prepared on a going
concern basis. Such responsibility of the Directors, and the responsibilities of
the auditors in respect of the consolidated financial statements are set out in
the report of the auditors of this annual report. The audit committee has
reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022 and recommended approval to the Board.
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 were audited by McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
(“McM”) whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. The audit committee has recommended the Board
the reappointment of McM as the auditors of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. A breakdown of the remuneration paid/payable to the
external auditors (including its affiliates) of the Company in respect of audit and
non-audit services provided to the Company during the year is set out below:
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Fees
#5H
(HK$’000)
ltems BH (F#&x)
Audit services (including the review of BEIRS (BRIEBHEE YT EER)
quarterly/interim financial information) 610
Non-audit services LB RS 100
Total et 710
Note: The amounts did not consider prior years’ underprovision/overprovision. Kzt : ZEBTEEBAFERETR BEEE-
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is Mr. Wong Kwok Chung, an associate member of
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. During the year, Mr. Wong
attended over 15 hours of professional training as required under Rule 5.15 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a policy concerning the payments of dividend. The
Company gives priority to distributing dividend in cash and shares its profits
with its shareholders. The dividend payout ratio shall be determined or
recommended, as appropriate, by the Board at its absolute discretion after
taking into account the Company’s financial results, future prospects and
other factors, and subject to:

— the Articles of Association of the Company;

— the applicable restrictions and requirements under the laws of the
Cayman Islands;

— any banking or other funding covenants by which the Company is
bound from time to time;

— the investment and operating requirements of the Company; and
— any other factors that have material impact on the Company.

The Board may consider distributing special dividend to all shareholders, and
the amount of which shall be determined and approved by the Board at its
absolute discretion. Under the Cayman Islands Companies Act and the
Articles of Association of the Company, all of our shareholders have equal
entitlement to dividends and distributions. The Board shall have the right to
review the dividend policy from time to time as it deems fit according to the
financial and business development requirements of the Company.

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLEBLOWING

When our employees or business partners discover corruption, bribery or
issues, they can report by real-name or anonymously through post or by visit
in person. The information of the whistleblower will be kept strictly confidential.

For further details, please refer to B7 of the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report of this annual report.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company recognizes the importance of good communications with its
shareholders and the investors. A key element of effective communication with
shareholders and investors is the prompt and timely dissemination of
information in relation to the Group. The Board has adopted the Shareholders
Communication Policy, which has been published on the website of the
Company, to set out the principles of the Company in relation to shareholders
communications, with the objectives of ensuring a transparent and timely
communication with shareholders through various means including but not
limited to publication of corporate communications and information on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange as required by the GEM
Listing Rules.

The Company’s general meetings are a valuable forum for the Board to
communicate directly with the shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to
participate in general meetings where attending Board members, appropriate
management and external auditors could answer questions that shareholders
may raise. Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings for each
substantial issue, including the re-election and election of individual directors.
The detailed procedures of conducting a poll are explained to shareholders at
the commencement of the general meetings, to ensure that shareholders are
familiar with such procedures. To solicit and get feedback from shareholders,
the Company provides shareholders with channels to express their views on
matters affecting the Company including the Hong Kong Branch Share
Registrar of the Company for enquiries on shareholdings. When necessary,
the shareholders can also send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Group’s principal place of business in Hong Kong, for
the attention of the Board or the Company Secretary.

The Company’s last AGM was held on Thursday, 23 June 2022 at 11:00 a.m.
at 10/F, United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong. The notice of
the AGM has been sent to the shareholders at least 21 days before the
meetings. All the resolutions proposed at the meetings were approved by
shareholders of the Company by poll. The Board has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders Communication Policy
including the attendance of directors and auditors, steps taken at the general
meetings, the handling of queries received (if any) and the multiple channels of
communication and engagement in place, and considered that the
Shareholders Communication Policy has been properly implemented during
2022 and is effective.

Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / & & #f & 2022

ERRNBEARREEBR

AARARAREBRRLREEGFRIFBEBZEE N - 8%
REREERREBNERZRARERN LR LEREMERE
EEBNEN - ERSHRMERNA R BB MHIARE
B - AHIERERBAERNARRRA - EEEBTR
BIE (BIEETRVIZRGEM £ R AR IR E AR =) R Bt
R TIE R RN ER) - AR AR 1T RS B
[ Be B B0 o

ARABZERARGNEESSERERRBBZEETA - R
PISEER2ERIAE S LEEGKNE  AENERE
KONBIZERAN A] @ B AREER - RIRRA® L AEERE
RREMERER - BREBENERERNES - ARAETR
RRORE TR R BR A S R0 A R AR - AIERAR
RABEBIERF - RECKEBRIREER - AABRKRRE
HERE  REBARRANEERRER  BERARAEE
B BFETHREAFRIBR - RRMANTERHESR
SRESAREIFEE  FRAANEHESHLIEENE
EEURARERRMA  FEAKEREBNTRE XN
B

RRALERRBEASENR T _FAA-+=R0(E
) EF+ R EREEESESEEBHRA—H L0
BET - RREAFASBSEERSRTAEL 221 AFEHE
FIRE - IERAE LRENARROERQRRRRER
REE - EEEEBREBRIBABRNERER LK &
BEERREENHE - BERAEG EAMRMO S - RIEI
AWERNMBE)ARABNZ BB 2ERE  TYRA
BEBMBRER S FZEBHWRES -

43



orate Governance Report
TEERRE

Shareholders’ Rights

As to nomination of Director

Subject to the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of
Association”) and the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Company
may from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution elect any
person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board, or as an
addition to the existing Board. Article 113 of the Articles of Association
provides that no person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless
recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of
Director at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to
propose that person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that
person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the Head
Office or at the Registration Office. The period for lodgement of the notices
required under this Article will commence no earlier than the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and
end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting and the
minimum length of the period during which such notices to the Company may
be given will be at least 7 days.

Accordingly, if a shareholder of the Company (the “Nominator”) wishes to
nominate a person (the “Nominee”) other than a retiring Director to stand for
election as a Director, the Nominator shall lodge a notice in writing duly signed
by the Nominator of the intention to propose the Nominee for election as a
Director at the Company’s Hong Kong branch registrar, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at 17/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong, with the following information of the Nominee included:

0} a notice in writing signed by the Nominee of his/her willingness to be
elected as a Director;

(ii) the biographical details of the Nominee as required by Rule 17.50(2) of
the GEM Listing Rules; and

(i)~ the Nominee’s written consent to the publication of his/her personal
data.

The notice must state clearly the name of the Nominator, his/her/their
shareholding in the Company and the contact details of the Nominator and the
Nominee. The identity and the shareholding of the Nominator will be verified
by the Company’s Hong Kong branch registrar and the information shall be
proper and in order for processing.

44

R R AEF

BEFEE

REAARABSRA/(TERA D MHESHERFE
ARAFRATHERRASAEBRZRBHEFMALHEIE
B NAHEEERBTRIERRBESTS ZIMEKE -
BRARMNENSERR  RIF-HERRBERZNUALS
EEMNEMARNNA R -—AZUEHEERA LT RAEATER Y

EMBACEREARABRERAEMMERL - TABE
AT CREESHRIN BRETABRRE LE2REES
B (FRIFRESSHER) - BRXZFBAZHHAHTER
EEETRIERZBRASRETRBAERT - RTERZ
BRASRTEHAMLALER  MAXARRELZEFBAL
FRESEARRILH -

B WARRBRR(MERE]) ERRAREESFUING
AT(HRBED2EES  AIRAEREREI—MHER
HELARZNEERN  RAEEEREKRERE2RE
F EREENTHRIEREARREARRZEERN B
BRORSEBFELERAF U REBERE 165
BERTEBP L7

0) BRBERTEE2REEZEBRFOIEAEM

(i) BAIEGEM LR RIS 17.50Q2) 1578 T & 2 B Wit
FEZBEFE &

(i) WRBEASHMEHBAAEHZEZERESE -
ZBAMARPRDE NS  ERARRNRRERES
EMBEREENBETR - ARBNTEBRNBFLELD &

BRERBENSHLHRE  AIRENENERRERZ
EUAFRIE ©

Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2022



EEERWE

001 dLE

As to convening of general meetings

There are no provisions governing shareholders’ rights to put forward
proposals or move resolutions at a general meeting under the constitutional
documents of the Company or the laws of the Cayman Islands. Shareholders
who wish to put forward proposals or move a resolution may however,
convene an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”) to be called by the
Board by following the procedures below. Procedures for Shareholders to
convene an EGM (including making proposals/moving a resolution at the
EGM) to be called by the Board:

U

(i

(i

(iv)

any one or more shareholders of the Company holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”), to require an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”) to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles; and

The written requisition shall be duly signed by the eligible shareholder(s)
concerned (the “Eligible Shareholder(s)”) and deposited to the Company’s
Hong Kong branch registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F., Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong;

The written requisition shall state clearly the name of the Eligible
Shareholder(s), his/her/their shareholding in the Company, the contact
details, the reason(s) to convene an EGM, the agenda of the EGM
including the details of the business(es) proposed to be transacted at
the EGM;

The identity and the shareholding of the Eligible Shareholder(s) will be
verified by the Company’s Hong Kong branch registrar and the
information shall be proper and in order for processing. If the requisition is
found to be proper and in order, the Board shall convene an EGM within
2 months and/or include the proposal or the resolution proposed by the
Eligible Shareholder(s) at the EGM after the deposit of the requisition. On
the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not in order, the Eligible
Shareholder(s) will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the Board
will not convene an EGM and/or include the proposal or the resolution
proposed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) at the EGM; and

if within 21 days of the deposit of the requisition, the Board has not
advised the Eligible Shareholder(s) of any outcome to the contrary and
fails to proceed to convene such EGM, the Eligible Shareholder(s) himself/
themselves may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the Eligible Shareholder(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholder(s) by the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has not made any change to its constitutional documents
during the year. A consolidated version of the Company’s constitutional
documents is available on the Company’s website and the website of the
Stock Exchange.
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BACKGROUND

The Group is principally engaged in research and development,
manufacturing and sale of consumer electronic products. The Group
provides one-stop services to its customers by offering design,
prototyping/sampling, manufacturing, assembling, packaging and
marketing of its products.

ABOUT THE REPORT

The Group contributes to sustainable development by delivering
environmental, social and economic benefits to all stakeholders in a
balanced way. The Group is pleased to present the environmental,
social and governance report (the “ESG” report) for the year ended 31
December 2022 (“2022” or “Year”) for the purpose of demonstration of
its efforts on sustainable developments to the stakeholders.

This ESG report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in
the Appendix 20 to the Listing Rules and is divided into two parts,
namely environmental and social. This ESG report has been prepared
to cover the ESG performance of the Group’s operating entities.

The basis of reporting principles — materiality, quantitative and
consistency:

° “Materiality” Principle: The Group determines material ESG issues
by stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment.

° “Quantitative” Principle: Information is presented with quantitative
measure, whenever feasible, including information on the
standards, methodologies, assumptions used and provision of
comparative data.

° “Consistency” Principle: The Report will use consistent
methodologies for meaningful comparisons in the past years
unless improvements in methodology are identified.

* For identification purpose only
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BOARD STATEMENT

As a group listed in the GEM of the Stock Exchange, the Group
undoubtedly places a strong emphasis on growth and development so
as to transform to a scalable enterprise. Notwithstanding such
emphasis, the Board is fully aware that the duly performance of our
responsibilities relating to ESG are key to our sustainable development
and plays a primary role in overseeing the Group’s ESG issues. The
Board approves environmental goals and social goals for the
sustainability of the Group’s business. We strive to align our long term
corporate development with environment and society.

The Board is ultimately responsible for the Group’s ESG strategy. The
ESG working team, reporting to the Board, identifies ESG issues and
risks posed to the Group and evaluates the impacts of ESG-related
risks towards our operation. In managing the priorities, the team takes
into account the relevant materiality assessment and focuses on those
ESG issues that would have significant impact and risks and within the
parameters agreed by the Board. The team formulates ESG policies in
dealing with the relevant material risks. Balancing the cost against
returns, we endeavour to integrate social and environmentally friendly
measures into our daily operations where practicable. The team
compiles ESG issues which are (a) identified internally from our
operations, and (b) collated externally from our stakeholders. Data from
relevant material risks is gathered and KPIs are created to set
practicable targets. The team manages relevant material risks by
regularly monitoring the KPIs against the targets.

The oversight of the Board ensures that the team can have all the right
tools and resources to deal with the ESG issues. The team updates to
the Board at the regular meetings with the progress and the status of
achieving the KPI targets, the environmental goals and the social goals.
The Board reviews and monitors the team’s reporting, ensuring that the
requirements from the Board are met. All of the operations and
businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries, subject to the relevant
material identified, are under the scope of review and assessment. As
the business evolves, we continue to pay attention to the compliance
status of ESG-related rules and regulations and identify new ESG
issues.
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4 MATERIALITY MATRIX 4 EEMERE
During the Year, the Group has evaluated a number of environmental, REER - AEEE T ZERRE T REER
social and operation related issues, and assessed their importance to MM WRRSBRET G TXEMELFEE
stakeholders and the Group through various channels. This assessment BERAEENEZN - T EBEPRBRAEERN
helps to ensure the Group’s business development is in line with the ¥BERTEEMNZIEEENHERER - REER
expectations and requirements of its stakeholders. The Group’s and its HANBZREENIEREUTEEEEREFFR -
stakeholders’ matters of concern are presented in the following
materiality matrix:
Importance to the Group
HAEENEEN
Low Medium High
&® Hh =
High € Anti-discrimination Talent management Customers’ satisfaction
= AR AT ER Level
@ Protecting labour rights Staff training and promotion BEPMEE
IRESBEIEF opportunity Anti-corruption
BTHEIIREFARKS RES
Staff compensation and welfare Product quality and safety
5 policies EREeEhTr
O # -
O 8 TN R AE R Suppliers management
2 g TR ER
@ e Occupational health and
- Pﬁ% workplace safety
% E BERFEETIESHMLS
5 &
= Medium > Community involvement Use of resources Operational compliance
A HEmeE BREA LiEEH
Protecting customers’ privacy
RER PR
Air emissions
R
Low & Preventive measures for child Non-hazardous wastes Use of raw materials
& and forced labour produced R RHME R
T E T KoaiE S ERITE i FTEAREEEEY Hazardous wastes produced
FRE4ARNBEREEY
< Environmental 215 ¢ Employee [E & > Operation & &
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The table underneath showed aspects on the ESG Guide to be
assessed and those ESG issues were determined to be material to the

TR#IIESGHE 5| MIIBELFENERRKEE
RYEAEEBEANESGEH -

Group.

ESG Aspects as set forth in ESG Guide
ESG1ES| i3I ESG EH

Material ESG issues for the Group

HEAEBBEEANESGEH

(A)  Environmental
n  ERE
A1 Emissions
Al HERR
A2  Use of Resources
A2 EIRfEA
A3 Environment and Natural Resources
A3 RIBRBAER
A4 Climate Change
A4 RIREME
(B)  Social
B HE
B1 Employment
Bl (&I
B2  Health and Safety
B2 REEZR
B3  Development and Training
B3 & NMIF
B4  Labour Standards
B4 HBIEE
B5  Supply Chain Management
Bs fEEER
B6  Product Responsibility
B6 EmAE
B7  Anti-corruption
B7 R&EF
B8  Community Investment
Bs itEm&m
ENVIRONMENTAL

Emission from town gas or Vehicle
BRI E BV HEL

Use of energy and paper
BEIR I AR A AR

Labour practices

BITER

Workplace health and safety

TYEHMERET S

Employee development and training

8 TR &

Anti-child and forced labour

BFE ToisRia4

Supply chain management

Hrepes

Product responsibility

EmEE

Anti-corruption, fraud prevention and anti-money laundering
R&EF - B IEMGF R R B

Community programs, employee volunteering and donation

HEEY  BTITRRBRED

A. ERiE

Environmental protection is one of the core values of the Group. The
Group has proactively looked for and implemented new technology at
various stages of production in order to minimise its impact on the
environment. The Group’s products are designed to be safe and
environmental friendly for customer use, meaning recyclable and safe to
dispose materials are specified in its designs, and clean production
processes are adopted in its manufacturing process. Moreover,
unnecessary packaging that can cause harm to environment is not
introduced into its products.

The Group considers environmental protection an essential component
of sustainable and responsible business. The Group strive to negate
impacts on the environment and to seek environmentally friendly
methods of operation. Given the nature of the Group’s business,
electricity is the most significant resources consumed in the office in the
PRC and Hong Kong.
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The Group have narrowed down to the following key areas where it
should exert the effort on:

Usage of resources from the operations;

Energy consumption; and

Indoor environmental quality.

The Current Environmental Policies

The Group’s main task is to measure and report the efforts in reducing
carbon footprints, promote waste reduction at source, enhance its
waste disposal management and set targets on environmental
performance. To minimise the environmental impacts concerning the
activities, products and services, the Group will:

A1,

Comply with applicable legal requirements and other
requirements which relate to the Group’s environmental aspects,
and to which the Group subscribes;

Identify environmental impacts associated with the operations
and set the targets to reduce stress on the environment in
consideration of social expectations;

Prevent pollution, reduce waste and minimise the consumption
of resources from all daily operations and actively promote
recycle, reuse and replace;

Educate, train and motivate employees to develop a social
viewpoint that enables them to conduct business activities in an
environmentally responsible manner.

Emissions Data from Gaseous Fuel Consumption

For Hong Kong office operations, the key environmental impacts
from the Group’s operations related to energy and paper
consumption. To achieve environment protection, the Group
encourages employees to shift to e-statement or scanning to
reduce the use of paper and greenhouse gas emissions; to
switch off all computers and office equipment and air-conditioner
at the end of each working day.

The Group has integrated environmental objectives into the
business decisions in a cost-effective manner. The Group has
required all staff to assume environmental responsibilities in
normal operating procedures and has enhanced the awareness
of environmental and resource efficiency issues amongst the
customers, staff and stakeholders. All important green and
quality assurance policies have been posted on the notice board
and stated in the standard operating procedures of the
manufacturing plant.
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a) The Company did not have town fuel and town gas
consumption during the Year.

b) The Company did not use its motor vehicles during the
Year, therefore no emissions data in relation to gaseous

a)  AREFARLEBFERERER

b) AARRFALEERETE - Bt
BB A R A REBIRE BRI

fuel consumption of motor vehicles applied. SHIE -
A1.2. Greenhouse Gas Emission A2 BERBHKE
The table below highlights its carbon footprint during the Year: TREFRERFRBIREH -
KPI
BRENES
2022 Unit %

-2 B %
Scope 1
HE1
Direct Emission - Kg -
IERE3 10 T
Scope 2
E2
Indirect Emission 12,682 Kg 96%
HE37304 T
Scope 3
€E3
Other indirect Emission 581 Kg 4%
H b B HER T
Total 18,263 Kg 100%
BE T2

During the Year, there is 13,263 kg of carbon dioxide equivalent
greenhouse gases (mainly carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous
oxide) emitted from the Group’s operation.

Total number of staff as at 31 December 2022 is 28. The annual
emission intensity was 474 KgCO,e/staff.

The Group set the targets to 20,000 kg of GHG emission for the
Year. The Group has achieved the target during the Year.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations:

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste of the Group during the Year. In addition, no significant
fines or non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations had been reported in the Year.
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A1.3. Hazardous and non-hazardous waste

A2.1.

A3.

The Group generates no hazardous waste in its operation. Non-
hazardous waste from use of electricity of the Group’s operation
but the management of the Group believed that is insignificant
waste.

Use of resource

The Group is committed to minimising the impact of business
activities on the environment, and supporting environmental
protection programmes. In particular, a number of initiatives
designed to conserve resources were introduced to promote
employee awareness of the need to achieve efficient utilisation of
resources.

The Group has been encouraging employees to establish energy-
saving habits in the office, such as switching off lights and
electronic appliances before leaving the office, as well as setting
indoor temperature at 25.5°C.

A13. EEREEERY
AEENSEYERELHEEREY - AKEN

A2.1

LETRENSELEERRY  BFKEE
BEERRERNATERX -
.ERER

FEERNRERREMEEEEEHEIRS
VEE - YXRERREAE - BHE AKED

HHZREAEGHNERNGE UEREER

BRAFRERNOBRER

REE-ERERERBEERAZHREE  fI

MR BB A EAT BB L R ER - WEER
REBBL5EBXE -

During the Year, the energy consumption by type in total of the RER - REBFTEERNRERZER B2
Group are showed as below: REATE
KPI
BRENIER
2022 Unit
—=E=-= B
Total energy consumed FrBfEm B = 15,157 kWh
F R
Total number of staff BT A 28 staff
8T
Electricity consumed per staff BHRETIMERENE 541 kWh/staff
FERE BT

The Group set targets to 20,000 kWh of energy consumption
during the Year. the Group has achieved the target during the
Year.

Environmental and Natural Resources

The Group has established a series of policies, mechanisms and
measures on environmental protection and natural resources
conservation to enhance its efficiency in the usage of energy,
water and materials and also complies with relevant local
environmental regulations and international general practices,
with an aim to reduce the use of natural resources and protect
the environment.

There were no non-compliance cases noted in relation to
environmental laws and regulations during the Year.

A3.

AL B F AR L2 EFE B 1ZE £20,000 F
FLBs  NEBMPNFERNDERILEIZ -

RERBARER
REEBHIE—RINBBERFREREAER
RAERIBUR - #HI RIEERIES AR - K
R RE - TB P AR AR R —
REIFED - &R ERERARRERE -

HAINFERLEEREARTDERIER ©
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A4.
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Climate change

Global climate change is getting worse and global warming has
been a serious problem. The Group, as a responsible enterprise,
endeavoured to introduce measures as far as practicable, such
as those mentioned in A2.1 above, to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions from business operations.

To cope with extreme weather conditions, the Group takes
precautionary and protective measures including, where
necessary, home office arrangement, work schedule
rearrangement and redeployment of resources, to ensure the
safety of employees, to minimize the impact on business process
and to avoid any physical damages to assets of the Group.

B. SOCIAL
Being a responsible business and employer, the Group are committed
to consistently looking for ways to meet the corporate social
responsibilities. The Group focuses on its staff, environment and
community as well as its business partners.

B1.

Employment and Labour Practices

The Group places a significant emphasis on developing human
capital and provides competitive remuneration and welfare
packages. Promotion opportunities and salary adjustments are
benchmarked against individual performance. Employees are
entitled to benefits such as annual leave, sick leave, maternity
leave, marriage leave, funeral leave and medical coverage in
accordance with local regulations.

The Group emphasis on equal opportunities for all personnel in
respect of hiring, pay rates, training and development, promotion
and other terms of employment. The Group is committed to
providing a work environment free from any form of discrimination
on the basis of ethnicity, gender, religion, age, disability or sexual
orientation.

The Group has a wide diversity of cultures including the
employees with different genders, ages, skills, educational
backgrounds, industry experiences and other qualifications in
order to achieve the most suitable composition and balance.
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The Group’s remuneration package is structured with reference
to the individual performance, working experience and prevailing
salary levels in the market. In additional to basic salaries and
mandatory provident fund for Hong Kong office staff, fringe
benefits include a basic five-day working week, flexible leave
arrangement, medical coverage scheme and annual dinner.

The Group has developed an employee handbook in accordance
with the Labour Law of the PRC and has distributed it to all
employees. The remuneration policies are determined on the
basis of performance, qualification and experience of individual
employee. The remuneration generally includes salaries and
allowances.

The Group had subscribed to those basic pension insurance,
basic medical insurance, unemployment insurance, occupational
injury insurance, maternity insurance as prescribed by the Social
Insurance Law of the PRC, as well as housing fund schemes as
prescribed by the Regulations on the Administration of Housing
Fund.

Employees’ wages, overtime payments and related benefits are
made not less than the local government’s minimum
requirements. The normal working hours for general employees
are normally 8 hours a day and 40 hours a week. Integrated
computation of working hours is implemented with reference to
the requirements of the Labour Law of the PRC.

Staff Composition

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed a total of 28
(2021: 45) staff, including operational office, sales and marketing,
and back office division. All staff members are allocated in Hong
Kong and Mainland China.
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() Employee’ s Employment Type Distribution

@ (EENEEERSH

2022 2021
—E- —E-—F
Male Female Male Female
By employment type REBERES B eg:3 Sl g
Full-time employment 2HER 61% 39% 69% 31%
Part-time employment FBER 0% 0% 0% 0%
Total st 61% 39% 69% 31%
(o)  Employee’ s Age and Gender Distribution ) EEFERRMASMH
2022 2021
—E-C= —T-—F
Male Female Male Female
Age Group FirE R B 7 SM g
0-15 0-155% 0% 0% 0% 0%
16-18 16-18 5% 0% 0% 0% 0%
19-30 19-307% 7% 7% 1% 4%
31-45 31-455% 32% 25% 40% 27%
46 - 60 46-60 7%, 18% 7% 16% 0%
61 or above 61 R A = 4% 0% 2% 0%
Total et 61% 39% 69% 31%
()  Employee’ s Geographical and Gender Distribution © IEEME KRS
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
Male Female Male Female
By geographical RibEE S B Zi St g
Hong Kong &% 25% 11% 16% 7%
Mainland China A 36% 28% 53% 24%
Total FEE 61% 39% 69% 31%

The Group will continue to provide a well-structured and caring
environment to employees to raise their sense of belonging and

work efficiency in the Group.
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The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare on
the Group during the Year. In addition, no non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that resulted in significant fines or
sanctions had been reported during the Year.

Employee Health and Safety

The Group adopts non-discriminatory employment practices and
provides a healthy and safe workplace. The Group seeks to
attract and retain talented employees through providing a safe
and healthy workplace for each and every employee in line with
established internal guidelines and systems.

For Hong Kong office staff, the Group provides its employee with
flexible rest leave arrangement, medical and hospital scheme.
The Group understands that a good working environment for its
employees with a safe and comfortable working condition is very
important. The Group has set a clear guideline of work
arrangement for typhoon and rainstorm warning.

The outbreak of the novel coronavirus (Covid-19), has become
the latest challenge for the health authorities in Hong Kong and

Mainland China, the Group has several policy to protect its staff:

— All public area would be performed disinfection on timely
basis;

— Provide mask and disinfection supplies to all staff;
— Request all management provide mask himself/herself;

— Request all staff to perform body temperature test
everyday;

— Request each staff to report their health status everyday;
and

— Request each Department Head to monitor the health
status of its staff on timely basis.

B2.

FA - AEEXTAEE EEREERBRE
BRIMERMERERER BEREF T
B KEH  FERE  Zl REBRE
M RAEN T EHARBERERZENE
e SN FRTME 2 ME ARG THEAE R
ER AR E RS HRE DB -

BERERZE
AEERMARBGEFBED - LRERER2
B TAEIS AT o AR BIARIRA X MR HE 5] Bl
ERSuEERHEZ2RENTIERE BN
RIBELRBEESES

ERAMERETHE  AEBIREEEMRERE
PE - BELERE - AEERA - RERT
ERETERE  BRTIEREL2EERS
BEE - ARECHBEHBRAMBRESHNT
TR EH RS ©

MERSRIENBRECKATE LT EAME
PR B PR - AN B B SRR BRI AR A
REHBT

-  EREMEAKEHEES

~  AREEATRMOBREER

-  BER2BEERAEMEOS:

-  EREHMTEEREEEESNRE

Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2022



B3.

B4.
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During the Year, there was no occurrence of any fatal accident.

() Occupational Health and Safety Data

FRN - WEBEAEERIETER -

@ BEEEkZZ2HE

2022 2021 2020
Health and Safety BRERZE —E-= —E-—fF —E-ZE
Number of work-related fatalities TERAR ML T B AR - - -
Lost days due to work injury ETEEATIERE - - -
During the Year, the Group has had no non-compliance AEBRFALEERBBABERR R
cases regarding violation of relevant laws and regulations RZEEERRER
on occupational health and safety.

Development and Training B3. EKRIZI

The Group has committed to provide on-the-job education and
training to its employees in order to enhance their knowledge
and skills. All employees are encouraged to enhance their skills
and knowledge at every opportunity in order to perform their
current job more efficiently and effectively and to be better
prepared for career opportunities which may arise. During the
Year, 18 training hours for the regular courses were provided to
the employees included but not limited to orientation training,
technical training and quality training.

Performance evaluations are initiated each year. Recognising the
value in the skill and experience of our staff, the Group has
adopted a policy that any promotions will be considered internally
first before hiring any outside staff. It is the Group’s policy to
select the most suitable candidate for appointment to a higher
rank based on merit, rather than on the seniority of the
candidates.

Labour Standard

The Group fully understand that the exploitation of child and
forced labour are universally prohibited, and therefore take the
responsibility against child and forced labour very seriously. The
Group strictly comply with all laws and regulations against child
labour and forced labour in Shenzhen, PRC.

For entry registration, all employees must present valid
documents to the PRC office as follows: (i) identity card and
vocational qualification certificate; (i) social security card; (iii)
medical or health certificate; (iv) recent photos; and (v) other
relevant information and documents required by the Group. The
above procedures can ensure no child labour will be employed in
manufacturing plant.
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B5.

All employees of the PRC office are entitled to have sick leave,
injury leave and maternity leave with medical proof in accordance
with the Labour Law of PRC and Law of the PRC on the
Protection of Labour Rights and Interests and other applicable
regulations. In addition, all employees work normally 8 hours daily
and are not encouraged to work overtime. But if overtime work is
required, the relevant employees and superior will agree mutually
in written form. The compensation for overtime work is in
accordance with the provisions of the Labour Law of PRC.

During the Year, the Group has had no non-compliance cases
regarding violation of relevant child labour and forced labour
laws.

Supply Chain Management

The Group has the greatest respect for the laws and regulations
that govern its business. The Group always adheres to
international best practices and conducts fair and unbiased
procurement processes when dealing with suppliers.

The Group adheres to the principle of transparency and
implements the value of honesty, integrity and fairness in its
supply chain management. The Group’s procurement
procedures provide directions and guidelines on evaluation and
engagement when dealing with suppliers of goods and services
to ensure business is conducted with legally, financially and
technically-sound entities. In addition, approval procedures are in
place to ensure that supplier engagements are monitored and
approved by the appropriate level of management.

Where ever possible, the Group compares the price with the
different suppliers, evaluates the quality of the raw materials or
machinery and confirms the qualifications of the suppliers before
making contracts, in order to ensure the quality of the raw
materials and machinery under an acceptable price. The Group
strives to ensure that their suppliers uphold similar stance in
sustainability. The Group also tends to maintain long-term
relationship with its suppliers for ensuring a stable supply of
materials or goods. During the Year, the Group carried out a
regular review on their current suppliers and assess other
alternative potential suppliers. Where ever possible, the Group
would tend to suspend cooperation with suppliers if significant
deterioration was found in the supplier’s quality: this ensures that
suppliers conform to the Group’s standard.

B5.

REBE(PEARKFMELS R M(FEARK
MESSREEREE)REMERRY - RE
B B RENFTE BB ERGEEERN
BRT HERZERKR BREER I
S FTEREMERSTIERE AT HS /K -
TE DRI T1E o W57 BAETTEBR TIE - A
HREEHEEARE N ANESEHLERK—
B BETENBEBRB(FEARLKNEA
SBEENIGTEE -

FA-AREYEEREMET RRBSEHN
P

frEgEER

REEETERIOER - WA ERIFINZE
1% o AEE—EUBERRKETIMAFRED
RERETREEARBRNRS -

EREREE T AKERFEARAY - L
BRHE  CERATHEER - EEEEH
ERRR S - AEBORERFERT (4 RE
BHEFNERERETEERT TR RE
3l DRI MBEFAIER - BIBRE N R
M7 R R R 215 = WSl - FHLIZFFHE
FREMEREENAEZ I EENE R EEE
AL o

RERANEERBANRY M RESEZH
B AEEEAEH TR EFRERETH
8 HEREMBSEENRE - YRBEITAR
AR PR ER - AEESHREREHES
ERFRAEZREETHIES - REETE
BHEAHERARS R EREAERM B
BEmRRERE - FR - AREERRSER
BRI A BB R - fHE R
FEENERBEER(L AEEERELEHEE
BHEEN A BURAREEANTAAEE
HIRAE o

Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2022



B6.

When choosing a new supplier, the Group give priority to the
suppliers who are environmentally friendly and socially
responsible in order to promote and support environmentally
preferable products and services in supply chain.

Performance of suppliers impose direct impact on the
sustainability of the Group’s operation. The Group implements
the procedures on selection of suppliers strictly to minimize both
the environmental and social risks of the Group’s supply chain. A
systematic supplier management mechanism has been set up to
closely monitor the performance of suppliers. As at 31 December
2022, the Group has 5 major suppliers.

PRI R - AEEELEE BAERR
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No. of major

suppliers
Geographical HE FTEHEBHE
Mainland China and Hong Kong o A e B/ 5
Overseas SN -
Total g 5
Product Responsibility B6. EmE

A high priority for the Group is to ensure customer satisfaction in
terms of its products and services. Strenuous efforts are made to
ensure compliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating
to product health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters of the jurisdictions in which the Group operates. The
Group requires its employees to comply with applicable
governmental and regulatory laws, rules, codes and regulations.

During the Year, the Group do not have any recalled products
and do not receive any compliant from its customers in relation
to either its quality of service or products. The Group has had no
non-compliance cases regarding violations of relevant laws and
regulations on product responsibility and data privacy.
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B7.

B8.

Anti-corruption

Corruption, bribery or fraud in any form is strictly prohibited. The
Group’s anti-corruption policies set out standards of conduct to
which all employees are required to adhere in order to promote
the integrity environment in the workplace.

To combat corruption and to govern conflicts of interest, unless
with the Group’s approval, Directors and employees are
prohibited from accepting any valuable items from co-workers,
customers, suppliers or other stakeholders. Unless with approval
the Board, senior management members are also prohibited
from engaging in any activities that involve a potential conflict of
interest with the Group or may do harm to the Group’s overall
interests. Breaches are subject to disciplinary actions, including
the termination of employment contracts where necessary.

Various policies have also been formulated to accord with the
Securities and Futures Commission’s Guideline on Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter- Terrorist Financing, including the basic
procedures for customer identification and due diligence,
suspicious transactions report and recordkeeping. Ongoing staff
training has also been carried out to ensure each of the
employees is fully aware of these policies.

The PRC office is fully aware of the Group’s anti-corruption
policies and of the priority to avoid corruption from taking root in
its operation. Its management understands layered audits and
clear accountability to monitor work related activities of the next
level and as well one more level below is the key to avoid
possible corruption.

In the Year, there is no legal case conceming corruption brought
against the Group or employees.

During the Year, the Group provide no training hours to its staff in
relation to anti-corruption.

Community Investment

The Group always seeks to be a positive force in the
communities in which it operates and maintain close
communications and interactions with the communities in order
to contribute to local development from time to time.

As global responsible citizen, the Group strives to improve the
society image and social responsibility through community
investment. All employees of the Group are encouraged to
participate their own initiatives on helping and supporting the
local communities and neighbours.
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Professionalism at the forefront

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
MILLENNIUM PACIFIC GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Millennium Pacific
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 66 to 142, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, which
indicates that the Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately HK$18,377,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
the Group had net current liabilities of approximately HK$12,322,000 as at 31
December 2022. These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
Notwithstanding the above, the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which is dependent upon
the outcomes of the Group to (i) attain profitable and positive cash flows from
operations; and (ii) reach an agreement with the holder of the outstanding
convertible bonds of the Company to extend the repayment term of the
convertible bonds for at least 12 months.
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ndependent Auditor’s Report
B ZEERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have

HREZEE

RIBES 2 EEHE - REZFRAESELANESY
BHIABETREZNFR - UWEFTAEEESERERER
BUBBERREREEHENERRETRE  MESTE
W EERBHEBER - TSERTERUCRRE SR
BRER - WHRBEPRE

determined impairment of trade receivables to be the key audit matter to be

communicated in our report.

Key Audit Matter
BRERSE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BREZSEEERPOMEE

Impairment of trade receivables
FEWER S 2 BB R ATig Bl 1

Refer to significant accounting policies in note 5, critical judgements
and estimates in note 6, financial risk assessment in note 7(b) and its
relevant disclosures in note 23 to the consolidated financial
Statements.

BRRFENBHREN TS T EEGHHE Wit 6 EZHERFE
&t - BHat 7(b) BT IR B AP A R M it 23 4B B 1 R A

The Group would grant credit terms to its customers ranged
between 60 to 90 days. The Group would perform periodic
assessment on impairment assessment of trade receivables by
established with provision matrix with loss rates based on aging of
debtor and applying on information including credit risk
characteristics of each customers, historical ageing and settlement
records, subsequent settlement status, on-going trading
relationships with the relevant customers and forward-looking
information in order to estimate the expected credit losses (“ECL”)
for the impairment assessment.
EEEHMEEPETE0ZENANEEN - BEEBIREES
ABBREREASEPNEERRSR  BEKREREELH
BBHEENR  EEEATPHNFER S BEERARAEEER R
BRREEER - B RYIRARER EETTE MG - UAEE
RERENEREERE((RREEER] -

Due to the significance of trade receivables to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements (representing approximately 56%
of the Group’s total assets) and the impairment assessment of trade
receivables under the ECL model involved the use of significant
management judgements and estimates, we considered this as a
key audit matter.

HRERERY BEEGKAMBRERNEEL(L BEXEEE
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Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of
trade receivables included:

EEARERRERFORER ENERRZT R

— Evaluating the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls over credit control, debt
collection and estimate of ECL;

—  FHEEBEEES  EREFREAEHEEBEENEIER
BRI R - B MES BRI

- Assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s ECL models by
examining the key assumptions applied by management to
justify the ECL model, including testing the accuracy of the
debtor aging analysis historical default data, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately adjusted
based on current economic conditions variables and
assumptions used in each of the economic scenarios and
assessing whether there was an indication of management
bias when recognising impairment loss; and

— FABREEEEFREREEEEREAMERANEERK
AFHE EXEEREEEEEANGREN  aEEBAR
RON - AIFBREENRENERIE  FEBEERXRES
IR Z B IS H P P E A E BB IR 2 8 RIRRETT
HEAE WHANERREERREEFEERERR
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- Inspecting settlements records after the financial year end
relating to the trade receivables as at 31 December 2022.

— RENMBFEAREEBEN_T-__F+-A=+—H2Z
FEWBR R 2 BEE SRR ©

Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2022



OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in the Company’s
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the those charged with governance, among other
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matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit T IR - BEE SR EZ IR SR B RIPELHTMEKR
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify — HRFEEEAE#ITER

during our audit.
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We also provide the those charged with governance are with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the those charged with governance are,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matter. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hui Chi Kong

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number: P07348

24/F., Siu On Centre, 188 Lockhart Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 29 March 2023

Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / & & #f & 2022

EENMAERBRIEN  BRESFCETARBLIENE
BER URAAREERATETEESZNELIEORR
REMEEEERZESETERUR(WER) BHERE
B SRR HE sk SR RIF 1 1 -

EENEERERBNERD REPLEREAREEH
BRENERTHERAEE  KMBKERERENHE - K3
EPSROITBRFARBRELERE  INEFAENER
~ BERREENSEEEAIAEERNTREARBBHEA
BRABUEEENOMNEM IERBEPRE - DRAESFER
3 GIES R b =PIl S

RE (BB EHMEEFRERAT
BEEETEN

i

FRHAEF

B ARSE - PO7348

EBB(TEREE 188K L R 2418

EFE —_ZT-_=F=A-+NH

65



For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__F+_A=+—HIFE

onsolidated Statement of Profit or Loss an

ReEakAMEEKER

2022 2021
—E__ —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Hat FET FAT
Revenue 9 65,654 82,533
Cost of sales (62,400) (78,520)
Gross profit 3,254 4,013
Other income 10 1,452 46
Administrative expenses (14,698) (13,609)
Other operating losses (250) (250)
Impairment losses for trade receivables REUTER 3R 2 R E 18 (49) (503)
Reversal of impairment losses/(impairment H b FE U FRIA 2 R E 18
losses) for other receivables Bl CRERE) 130 (1,431)
Impairment losses for right-of-use assets EREEEZREESE (2,080) -
Loss from operation (12,241) (11,734)
Finance costs 11 (2,026) (1,542)
Impairment losses for associates - (7,963)
Share of results of associates (7,248) (1,978)
Share of results of a joint venture - (73)
Loss before tax 12 (21,515) (23,290)
Income tax credit 13 - 53
Loss for the year (21,515) (23,237)
Other comprehensive income: Hih2mEmUWKE :
Iltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss: AJgEEH S E 18K EH -
Exchange differences on translating REGINERISRVEE X =58
foreign operations (315) 34
Share of other comprehensive (loss)/income of (k4 /A & E th 2 (E518) /2
associates (1,563) 766
Other comprehensive (loss)/income FREMZE (FE) k- NBRBIE
for the year, net of tax (1,878) 800
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRZEEEASE (23,393) (22,437)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_Z-_—_#+-A=+—BHItFE

2022 2021
—E__ —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt s FET FAT
Loss for the year attributable to: UTATEEERES:
— the owners of the Company — AREHEBA (18,377) (22,593)
— non-controlling interests — FEERRAERS (3,138) (644)
(21,515) (23,237)
Total comprehensive loss for DTATEEFEFAZHEEBEE:
the year attributable to:
— the owners of the Company i VNGIE Z=UN (20,170) (21,844)
— non-controlling interests — FEIEAR RS (3,223) (593)
(23,393) (22,437)
Loss per share (cents) SREE GBL)
— Basic - 25X 16 (1.78) (2.19)
— Diluted — 88 16 (1.78) (2.19)

Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / & & #f & 2022
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At 31 December 2022
RZBZ—F+=-A=+—H

tatement of Finan

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BtaF FE T FET
Non-current assets FERENEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BWENMERE 18 56 124
Right-of-use assets FREEE 19 - 4,285
Interests in associates SN 20 13,906 22,717
Investment in a joint venture N—EEELEZRE 21 - -
13,962 27,126
Current assets REVEE
Inventories FE 22 - 3,214
Trade receivables FEURER K 23 21,841 54,330
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits ~ Efb FEUGRIE « B FHIB R iIES 24 1,263 9,781
Bank and cash balances RIT NI ® 45 25 1,655 2,608
24,759 69,933
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables FERTBR X 26 551 35,021
Other payables, deposits received and Hip AR BERETE MIERTER
accrued expenses 27 13,532 15,269
Amount due to an associate FEA — B & A RIRUE 20 906 -
Convertible bonds Al AR E 5 28 20,577 -
Lease liabilities HEERE 29 1,515 2,129
Current tax liabilities BNEARIE B & = 418
37,081 52,837
Net current (liabilities)/assets e (AE) EEEE (12,322) 17,096
Total assets less current liabilities BEERABERE 1,640 44,222
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Convertible bonds AR E S 28 - 18,673
Lease liabilities HEEaRE 29 561 2,213
561 20,886
NET ASSETS EEZFE 1,079 23,336
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At 31 December 2022
RZBZ—F+=-A=+—H

2022 2021
—E__ —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt s FET FAT

Capital and reserves BRARFEE
Share capital RN 31 1,649 1,649
Reserves 1 (34) 19,112
1,615 20,761
Non-controlling interests IR (536) 2,575
TOTAL EQUITY R 1,079 23,336

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 March

2023.

Director
-

Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / & & #f & 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__F+_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

ANRERAER
Equity
Foreign component
currency of Non-
Share Share translation Option  convertible Accumulated Total  controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve bonds losses reserve interests equity
TRRES
BE  RGEE MEERE BRERE  EE¥S  2HER ARk FERER aER
(note 33(c)(i)  (note 33(c(i)) (note 33(c)fii)) (note 33(c)(iv))
(Wz£3300)))  (Hi33e0m) (WaEase)i) (M 33e)i)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAL FAT TET FEL FAL FAT TET FEL FAL
At1 January 2021 R-Z-—-F-F-AH 1,649 110,537 884 2,660 2,650 (78,054) 38,677 1,989 42,315
Formation of a subsidiary K —BHEAR - - - - - - - 1,179 1,179
Repayment of convertiole bonds (note 28) (£ IRES (f£28) - - - - (2,650) 2,650 - - -
Issue of convertible bonds (note 28) BITRRES (HiH28) - - - - 2212 - 2212 - 2,212
Recognition of share-based payments AR BERE - - - 67 - - 67 - 67
Transfer of share option reserve upon REREANSERERERE
lapse of share options - - - (1,337) - 1,337 - - -
Total comprehensive loss for the year ENREFRES - - 749 - - (22,593) (21,844) (593) (22,437)
Changes in equity for the year FREREY - - 749 (1,270) (438) (18,606) (19,565) 586 (18,979
At 31 December 2021 and R-B--§+-B=1+-RAR
1 January 2022 “%-"f-f-R 1,649 110,537 1,633 1,390 2212 (96,660) 19,112 2,575 23,336
Recognition of share-based payments ~ BERZURABEBHFE - - - 1,136 - - 1,136 - 1,136
Acquisition of non-controlling interests ~ EEFRRER
(note 36(a)) (K=t 36(2) - - - - - (112 (112) 112 =
Total comprehensive loss for theyear ~ Fh2EFELE - - (1,793) - - (18,377) (20,170) (3,228) (23,393)
Changes in equity for the year FREREE - - (1,793) 1,136 - (18,489) (19,146) 3,111) (22,257)
At 31 December 2022 R-E--F+-B=t+-AH 1,649 110,537 (160) 2,526 2,212 (115,149) (34) (536) 1,079
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_Z-_—_#+-A=+—BHItFE

2022 2021
—g=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHRERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax FR T A B 18 (21,515) (28,290)
Adjustments for: AT ZIEEH FHE
Interest income FBWA (3) (©)
Depreciation of property, Yz - BEREETE
plant and equipment 254 412
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 2,086 2,746
Gain on termination of a lease contract BIFREAH 2 W - (16)
Finance costs MisEA 2,026 1,642
Impairment losses for right-of-use assets FREEERERBE 2,080 -
Impairment losses for trade receivables FEWBR RN 2 R BB 1B 49 503
(Reversal of impairment loss)/Impairment H b el B 2 CREEIEER),
losses for other receivables RIERE (130) 1,431
Impairment losses for associates W /N b =Y 5E =] = 7,963
Written off of inventories FEMH 3,750 -
Provision for allowance of inventories FEEE = 428
Share of results of associates PaN T /NCTE ¥ 7,248 1,978
Share of results of a joint venture NME—REELEES = 73
Share-based payment expenses LARR AR 2 B R < SR =2 1,136 67
Operating loss before working capital changes 4 E8& & & 811 &4 518 (3,019) (6,166)
Increase in inventories FERM (694) (2,009
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables FEMBR TR (38 0) 32,144 (30,431)
Decrease in other receivables, HAbEWGRIE - FBRRER
prepayments and deposits Zemd 7,984 5,104
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables FERTERFR CRLA), /150 (33,943) 33,930
(Decrease)/increase in other payables, HEAHE  BlRETE R
deposits received and accrued expenses FEEHE A Crd), /1 hn (1,377) 4,160
Cash from operations KEFTSIR S 1,095 4,588
Interest on lease liabilities HEABENS (122) (187)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) paid B BREEMEH
(TEmEH) (398) -
Interest paid BRFLE - (32)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded BEREFBEMNEH - 84
Net cash from operating activities METEE IR E FRE 575 4,483
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZT-__F+-HA=+—HIFE

onsolidated Statement of Cash

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
BtaF THET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHESHRE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment B A% - = M iRk (193) -
Interest received 2 U FIE 3 3
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities BEEE (A, FERSFE (190) 3
CASH FLOWS FROM REIHEERE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds IT A B E S Z TS 20E - 20,000
Proceeds from non-controlling shareholders AL — BB AR B IEER

from formation of a subsidiary RS Z TSR = 1,179
Redeem of convertible bonds f& o) A R (E 5 = (21,600)
Principal elements of lease payments HENRZARE D (2,079) 2,719
Increase in amount due to an associate FEAS — B & 2 B FUIBE N 906 -
Net cash used in financing activities BEEBTAIRS R (1,173) (3,140)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS W), KR (788) 1,346
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNFEFE R F B 2 B (165) 1
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R—B—HBHHEERK

1 JANUARY REeZEY 2,608 1,261
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RTZA=+—HBWEEE

31 DECEMBER REZEY 1,655 2,608
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND REeRASEEYDIM

CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances WITRIEESEH 25 1,655 2,608
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

2
1.

E_E-_—_F+-_A=+—HLFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempt company with limited
liability under the Company Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands on 10 September
2013. The address of its registered office is Windward 3, Regatta Office
Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The
address of its principal place of business is located at A709-A22, 7/F.,
Block A, Jiangsu Building, 6013 Yitian Road, Fuxin Community, Lianhua
Street, Futian District, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”). The principal place of business in Hong
Kong is located at Unit 5, 4/F., Energy Plaza, No. 92 Granville Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are
listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) since 18 July 2014.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
of its subsidiaries are research and development, manufacture, sale of
electronic devices and provision of application software development
and online information and digital marketing services.

GOING CONCERN

The Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$18,377,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022
and as at 31 December 2022, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$12,322,000. In view of these circumstances, the
Directors of the Company have given careful consideration to the
impact of the current and anticipated future liquidity of the Group.

The validity of the Group to operate as a going concern is dependent
upon the outcomes of the Group to (i) attain profitable and positive cash
flows from operations by exploiting business development and
implementing effective cost control measures; and (ii) reach an
agreement with the holder of the outstanding convertible bonds of the
Company (the “CB Holder”) to extend the repayment term of the
convertible bonds for at least 12 months. Up to the approval date on
these financial statements, the Company had obtained written consent
from the CB Holder that, regardless of the successful extension of the
outstanding convertible bonds which is subject to fulfillment of certain
preconditions, the CB Holder committed not to request for the
repayments of the outstanding principal and interest before 31 March
2024,

After taking into account the above measures, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group will be able to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of
business. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements of the Group
have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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T —F+-A=+—HIEFE
BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which in collective term includes all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).
Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are discussed
below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first
effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group. Note 4 provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs
The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January
2022 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended
Use
Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfiling a Contract

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Annual Improvements Project  Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Standards
2018-2020

Amendments to Accounting Merger Accounting for Common

Guideline 5 Control Combinations

The above amendments to HKFRSs effective for the financial
year beginning on 1 January 2022 do not have a material impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statement.
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HE_T_—_F+_A=+—HILEE

4. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 4.

(continued)
(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

BRANHR] RASET B A M BREERL (&)

(b) CEMEERERNFIRKBIER

effective B iSRS A

The Group has not applied any new and revised HKFRSs that AEEWEEACEBENAR T —_F—
have been issued but are not yet effective for the financial year A — AR Z B BFE SR TR RS
beginning 1 January 2022. These new and revised HKFRSs FIEBVIESIRELER - ZENMAAEEEHE
include the following which may be relevant to the Group. AT RISERT BEAMBREEABEUTE

Effective for

accounting

periods beginning

on or after

RT3 B 2%

MBS TR EX

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Classification of SEHERE 15N — KAk 1 January 2024

Liabilities as Current or Non-current

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 — Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 — Definition of
Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 — Deferred Tax Related
to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a
Single Transaction

Amendments to HKFRS 16 — Lease Liability
in a Sales and Leaseback

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
— Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation
of Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand Clause

77 %Hﬁ'//lbibjz_a"z/llbib

SR ERTERISE 1 T R BB R 15 R
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The directors of the Company are in the process of making an
assessment of what the impact of these amendments and new
standards is expected to be in the period of initial application. So
far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have
a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
note 6.

Significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
financial statements are set out below.

(@) Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties. A
potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a
loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value
of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill and any accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(@

(b)

Consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position and consolidated statement of changes in
equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
an allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive income for
the year between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of
the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss, unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale).

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible, including potential voting rights held by other entities,
are considered when assessing whether the Group has
significant influence. In assessing whether a potential voting right
contributes to significant influence, the holder’s intention and
financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Associates (continued)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment and
is tested for impairment together with the investment at the end
of each reporting period when there is objective evidence that
the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group assesses Whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not
allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or
losses and other comprehensive income is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals
or exceeds its interest in the associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate. If the associate
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its
share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the
share of losses not recognised.
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Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more
parties have joint control. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control. Relevant activities are
activities that significantly affect the returns of the arrangement.
When assessing joint control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the holder
has the practical ability to exercise that right.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the arrangement.

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the joint
venture in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the joint venture’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill, which is
included in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in a joint venture may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Joint arrangements (continued)

The Group’s share of a joint venture’s post-acquisition profits or
losses and other comprehensive income is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. When the Group’s share of losses in a joint venture
equals or exceeds its interest in the joint venture (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the joint venture), the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the joint venture. If the joint venture
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its
share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the

share of losses not recognised.

(d) Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”),
which is the Company’s functional and presentation

currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial

Statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
company initially recognises such non-monetary assets or

liabilities.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of

that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(C)

(€

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(iii) Translation on consolidation
The results and financial position of all the Group entities
that have a functional currency different from the
Company’s presentation currency are translated into the
Company’s presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at
the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of
borrowings are recognised in the foreign currency
translation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such
exchange differences are recognised in the consolidated
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in the
profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(€

U]

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their costs less their residual value over
the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

5.
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Residual value Useful lives

FItAEE Al A S 5

Motor vehicles JHE 0-10% 3 years &£
Furniture and fixture RRREE 0-10% 5 years &
Office equipment BN 0-10% 5 years &
Plant and machinery R Mt 2% 0-10% 10 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss on
disposal of property, plant and equipment is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss in the year in
which the item is derecognised.

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to
direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from that use.

The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease
component(s), the Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease component
for all leases.
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U]

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-
of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-
value assets. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated
with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a
relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest expense
is calculated using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they
are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of
the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the
end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

U]

(@)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or
there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has
been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change in
the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract (“Lease
Modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate lease. In
this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a revised discount rate at
the effective date of the modification.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs is determined using the weighted average basis and
comprise all costs of purchase and, where applicable, cost of
conversion and other costs that have been incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and condition. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down
of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised in the profit or loss in the period of write-down or
loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories recognised as an increment in the amount of
inventories and recognised in the profit or loss in the period in
which the reversal occurs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing
for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right
must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable
in the normal course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

V)

0

86

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at
either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification
of the financial assets.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. For
financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less impairment loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k)

V)

(m)

(n)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash
flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
expected credit losses (‘ECL”).

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debts and equity instruments are classified according to the
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under
HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at fair value through
profit or loss.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds which entitle the holder to convert the loans
into a fixed number of equity instruments at a fixed conversion
price are regarded as compound instruments consisting of a
liability and an equity component. At the date of issue, the fair
value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing
market interest rate for similar non-convertible debt. The
difference between the proceeds of issue of the convertible loans
and the fair value assigned to the liability component,
representing the embedded option for the holder to convert the
loans into equity of the Group, is included in equity as equity
component of convertible bonds. The liability component is
carried as a liability at amortised cost using the effective interest
method until extinguished on conversion or redemption.

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and
equity components of the convertible bonds based on their
relative carrying amounts at the date of issue. The portion related
to the equity component is charged directly to equity.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

(P)

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) a performance obligation is
satisfied, ie when “control” over a product or service is
transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

Revenue from the sale of manufactured products and trading of
electronic accessories is recognised when control of the goods
has transferred, being when the goods have been shipped to the
buyer’s specific location (delivery). Following delivery, the buyer
has full discretion over the manner of distribution and price to sell
the goods, has the primary responsibility when on selling the
goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to
the goods. A receivable is recognised by the Group when the
goods are delivered to the buyer as this represents the point in
time at which the right to consideration becomes unconditional,
as only the passage of time is required before payment is due.

Revenue from provision of online information and digital
marketing services is recognised when the services have been
provided.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost
that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied
to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit impaired
financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance)
of the asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(@

U]

(s)

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’
basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost
charged to profit or loss represents contributions payable
by the Group to the funds.

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the
dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain directors and employees. Equity-settled share-based
payments are measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of
non-market based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments
at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date
of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the
effect of non-market based vesting conditions.

Options which are cancelled prior to their exercise date or lapse
are deleted from the register of outstanding options. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
the share option reserve will be transferred to accumulated
losses as a movement in reserves.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t)

90

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(u) Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

)

(i)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Company or of a parent of the Company.

(B)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

)

(i)

(i)

)

(Vi)

(vil)

(vii

The entity and the Company are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a
plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to
the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

A person identified in (A)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Company or to a parent of the Company.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

v)

(w)

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at
each reporting date for indications of impairment and where an
asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through the
consolidated statement of profit or loss to its estimated
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the
cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash
flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit
whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first
against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the
other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases
in the recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates are
credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the
impairment.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on trade
receivables. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the
respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as
well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

BE
5.

(w)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.
Forward-looking information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate,
obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts,
governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar
organisations, as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate
to the Group’s core operations.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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94

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor; or

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

o information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

o the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the counterparty a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

o it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, including when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made
are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is
a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the
reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure
includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting date,
together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn
down in the future by default date determined based on historical
trend, the Group’s understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

If the Group has measured the impairment for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w)

()

)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except
for investments in debt instruments that are measured at
FVTOCI, for which the impairment is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of
the financial asset in the statement of financial position.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is not
appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the financial
statements. Events after the reporting period that are not
adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements when material.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 5, the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

(a) Going concern basis
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the
successful implementation and outcome of the measures to be
undertaken by the Group. Details are explained in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(b)  Judgement in joint control assessment

The Group holds 51% of the voting rights of its joint venture,
Millennium Pacific Electronics Limited (“MPEL”). The directors of
the Company have determined that the Group has joint control
over MPEL based on underlying contractual agreement, it
appears that unanimous consent is required from both parties to
the agreement to enable to direct for all relevant activities of
MPEL.
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6. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

(@ Impairment losses for trade receivables

The directors of the Company estimate the amount of impairment
loss for ECL on trade and other receivables based on the credit
risk of trade and other receivables. The Group uses practical
expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables which are not
assessed individually using a provision matrix. The provision rates
are based on aging of debtors as groupings of various debtors
taking into consideration the Group’s historical default rates and
forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes
in the forward-looking information are considered. The provision
of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information
about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are disclosed
in note 7(b).

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of trade
receivables is approximately HK$21,841,000 (2021:
HK$54,330,000), being net of impairment loss of approximately
HK$934,000 (2021: net of approximately HK$885,000).

(b)  Impairment of investments in associates

As at 31 December 2022, in view of impairment indicators, the
Group performed impairment assessment on associates.
Determining whether impairment loss should be recognised
requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the relevant
associates which is the higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal. The value in use calculation requires the
management of the Group to estimate the present value of the
estimated cash flows expected to arise from dividends to be
received from the associates and the proceeds from the ultimate
disposal of the investment taking into account factors, including
discount rate, dividend payout rate, etc. In cases where the
actual cash flows are less or more than expected, or change in
facts and circumstances which result in revision of future cash
flows estimation or discount rate, a material reversal or further
recognition of impairment may arise, which would be recognised
in profit or loss for the period in which such a reversal or further
recognition takes place.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

®)

©

Impairment of investments in associates (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of investments in
associates is approximately HK$13,906,000 (2021:
HK$22,717,000), being net of impairment loss of investments in
associates of approximately HK$7,963,000 (2021:

HK$7,963,000).

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are stated
at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. In
determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to
exercise judgement and make estimation, particularly in
assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators
that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of
an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the
case of value in use, the net present value of future cash flows
which are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset;
and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
assets belongs. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value used in

the impairment test.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are approximately
HK$56,000 (2021: HK$124,000) and nil (2021: HK$4,285,000),
being net of impairment loss of right-of-use asset of

approximately HK$2,080,000 (2021: Nil) respectively.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. UBERRER
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign AEEMNES TR Z B ERR : INERR - 5
currency risk, credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s BER  FXEBREABESRRE - AEBRERR
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of EENEZINSRMBH TN REKEER
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the DEAEEVBRANEETHEE -

Group’s financial performance.

(@) Foreign currency risk (a)
The functional currency of the Group’s entities are principally
denominated in either HK$ and Renminbi (‘RMB”). The Group
has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as some of its
business transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated in
currencies other than its functional currency such as United
States dollars (“US$”). The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its
foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Set out below the sensitivity analysis the Group’s foreign
currency risk.
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RERBE

ThEe B B8 CRL)
B (21E) &0
HK$’000

THET

Year ended 31 December 2022 BE—_S-_—H+4+_-_A=+—HLEE
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—RHIFE
Note: This is mainly a result of foreign exchange gain/(loss) on bank

deposits, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables
denominated in US$.
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7.

102

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its
obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract,
leading to a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk
from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and from
its financing activities, including deposits with banks, foreign
exchange transactions and other financial instruments. The
Company’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks and
financial institutions with high credit-rating assigned by
international credit-rating agencies, for which the Company
considers to have low credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Group has significant concentrations of credit risk as 96%
(2021: 84%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due from two
(2021: two) customers. The directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the credit risk exposure in relation to these
customers is not significant as these customers had sound
financial position for whom there was no recent history of default.
In addition, the Group has policies in place to ensure that sales
are made to customers with an appropriate credit history.

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject
to the Group’s established policy, procedures and control
relating to customer credit risk management. Individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s
past history of making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to the customer
as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivable are due within 60 to 90
days from the date of billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The Group measures impairment loss for trade receivable at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.

7.

B EBREE ()

(b)

FERR
EERBRESFIEEETERIARETR,E
WETHEEN I BERIBRNER - AAT
Hige s (X2 RARUIRT) kB8 (&
BIRTTHER  EXZREMBEBTA) M
mEREERRE - ARRERE KR LEEYE
RNEERBRER  REREFH RERRE
EFARBRTHEEIANRITRERME
B AR AARR/EBREERR -

JEY AR

AEBEEBREAEEETRER - WY HREASE
E96% (—Z — —1F : 84%) Ay B UL BR 19 3K
BME(ZE=—F : WB)EF - ARARIESR
RE ARZERPUBHABE - BiRHY
ENLE  AMEZEEFEANEERR
WO ARER o o - AREBESIFTECEE - M
BRABSIEHNFEEREEENEEAN -

EFEERBRRBEAEESFIEMEPEER
BREEMEBE  BFREMNESEBEME
B o REESBMEERBRETEESEZE
FETERNEERG - ZF5HEETREF B
EEBIBMFAZCHE LB ZERENLE
BEFPZBEAMULEREPEEZEER
%o BURAE BR A L6020 HAE
. —RiME  AEETEESRETPHNIKE
o

AEEERBREERTENERREREEER
SR ERKEROBESE - ARASEN
BEEEBRERTERRTRES 5 HNE
BEXAEREER  RIEE—SPRAKRE
ETREF RO RN EEEE -
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

7. BBEBREE(H)
(b) EEREG

Trade receivables (continued) JEW AR (48)
The following table provides information about the Group’s TREBRAEER-_Z__F+=-A=+—8
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at 31 AREERBRRENEREREESEBZE
December 2022: (e
2022
B CF
Expected loss Gross carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
FEHEEE IREAE ERRE
% HK$’000 HK$°000
% FE T THERT
Current (not past due) BNEA (W i HA) N/AFREHR - -
1- 30 days past due wmHA1E30H N/AFREHA = =
31-60 days past due #HI31 £ 60 H 2.4% 791 19
61-90 days past due #HI61290H N/AFREHA = =
More than 90 days past due #HEIQ0 H A £ 4.2% 21,984 915
22,775 934
2021
—E-—F
Expected loss Gross carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
TEEAE 1B R ARE A EEEE
% HK$’000 HK$'000
% FAT FAET
Current (not past due) BNER (A i Hl) 0-3% 15,693 282
1- 30 days past due #HEI1=30H 0-3% 465 -
31-60 days past due #HI31 =60 H 0-3% 36,146 551
61-90 days past due #HI61 290 H N/A 7 - -
More than 90 days past due #HEFQ0 H A £ 0-3% 2,911 52
55,215 885

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and
adjusted for forward-looking information that is available without

undue cost or effort.
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HE_Z-__F+_A=+—HIFE
7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 7. HMRERER(E)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERE(E)
Trade receivables (continued) JEWRRR K (48)
Movements in the loss allowance for trade receivables during the RENBREREEBRESZHNT -
year is as follows:
2022 2021
—E2-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
At 1 January n—A—H 885 382
Impairment losses recognised for the year FAERBERE 49 503
At 31 December Rt+—-_A=+—H 934 885
Deposits and other receivables 1e® R A b KA
In order to reduce the credit risk, the management of the REEEERR  AAREEEFREEBA
Company has assessed the credit quality of each debtor taking WA R EMARTEEEEE R - Re
into account its financial position and other factors. ECLs on Je Hofth RE WK IE RO TE B E B B 1R IR — AR 7 ERT
deposits and other receivables are assessed under general R ZFRZT—F+ZA=+—
approach and as at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the H - ERERFAZSRIGIABVIIRERERE
management considers these receivables had no significant BRI mEEEN - FALERE—RREE
increase in credit risk since its initial recognition and therefore WIEAEEEE  BBESM12@ATERE
ECL for stage 1 assets applies, i.e. allowance equal to 12-month BEE -
ECL.
The following table provides information about the Group’s TRIBHAEBAEENREPRMIZE LEM
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for deposits and other EWHRIEERNESRR RTEREEEENE
receivables as at the end of the reporting period: #
2022 2021
—E-C—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAET
Gross carrying amount classified as DEAEBREEMNREAE
stage 1 assets 1,299 9,815
Weighted average expected credit loss rate  JI#E FH9Ta BA{Z B8 X 11.2% 3.0%
Loss allowance B 1R 146 294
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

Deposits and other receivables (continued)

12-month ECL on deposits and other receivables that has been
recognised in accordance with general approach set out in

B EBRERE (&)

(b)

FERRE (H)

e REM B ()

RIRE B SRS O SRATH — ARTTRRE
ROES REMERFEN12EARBEE

HKFRS 9 is as follows: EiEmnT
2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
At beginning of year REL) 294 438

(Reversal of impairment losses)/ RAE E B HERH

impairment losses recognised for the year CREBERD), RERE (130) 1,431
Written off g8 = (1,592)
Exchange realignment IE 5 2R (18) 17
At end of year REXR 146 294

Amount due from a non-controlling shareholder

The amount due is closely monitored by the directors of the
Company. The directors of the Company consider that the
expected credit loss of this receivable is immaterial to the
consolidated financial statements.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s convertible bonds are arranged at fixed interest
rates and therefore subject to fair value interest rate risks.

The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from its bank
deposits. These bank deposits bear interests at floating rates
varied with the then prevailing market condition.

Except as stated above, the Group does not have other
significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities at the end of
reporting period, its income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.

Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / & & #f & 2022
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7.

106

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

()

Liquidity risk

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Group have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity and going concern of the Group in light of the fact that
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately HK$12,322,000 at 31 December 2022. Up to the
date of these consolidated financial statements were authorised
for issue, the CB holder committed not to request for repayments
of the outstanding principal and interest before 31 March 2024.
The directors have carried out a detailed review of the cash flow
forecast of the Group for the twelve months ending 31 December
2023 and other measures taken by the management as referred
to in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, and
consider that the Group will have sufficient working capital to
meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due for the
twelve months from 31 December 2022.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at
the end of each reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities,
based on undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates
current at the reporting date) and the earliest date the Group can
be required to pay.

7.

BEERERE (&)
(d FEBHELER
REHGEAMBHREN  ERAEAR T

T+ A=+ ARHEEBBERHE
E#112,322,000 70 AEBEEEFIEE
EARAEERRREDES RIFELE - EEZS
IRE SRR R G BH - AR ES
BBEANABIEERR T -_NF=A=+—
HAIEESMAREENASRFE - EREHAN
EEHE-_T - =—F+-A=+—HBI+=
Rz B &RETRR KRGS I EIRERN T2 frit
EIREFTEREU E A A pEE TR AER 6T - R
ARSERERENEEESUEBITEE=Z
—oE+-A=+—RAE+ @A RN
BEE -

TRIFAKENEREERSREHRNH%
TERMR - MARBEKRTERBARIBERE
BRenE(REEMERAMNRL(MEFD
A=) RIBRE ARBTOMN XA ESHOF
ENFORRAZRAZE X NNEEHHE
¢ o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_ZT-__F+_A=+—HIFE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 7.

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities based on
contractual undiscounted cash flow is as follows:

MEEREE ()

(d) REBESER(H)
FEEREAAKREARSRBEAENESRE
ENEIHERIATIT -

Less than Between 1
On demand 1year and2years
BRER —FUTF —ZEWF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET FHET
At 31 December 2022 R=-T==
t=A=+—-~H
Trade payables R - 551 =
Other payables, deposits received HfttfE[NHIE CWEIT &R
and accrued expenses FEstERA 2,331 10,908 -
Convertible bonds BB ES - 21,600 -
Lease liabilities HEEE - 1,570 566
Less than Between 1
On demand 1 year and 2 years
REXK —&FELTR —EWF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T FHIT FHT
At 31 December 2021 R-ZBE-_—F+-_A=+—H
Trade payables FETBRER - 35,021 -
Other payables, deposits received and ~ E b EFIE - EUWET € &
accrued expenses FEET & A - 15,189 -
Convertible bonds AT AR & - - 21,600
Lease liabilities HEAaE - 2,254 2,278

(e) Categories of financial instruments at 31 December

() Rt=-—A=+—-BZEmIEAMEH

2022 2021
—E-& —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Financial assets: ERMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost REHN AR SR A E 24,649 66,719
Financial liabilities: SRAE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REE A IR 2 @A E 34,367 68,883

() Fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of
financial position approximate their respective fair values.
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BE
8.

presented based on the geographical location as follows: EZ27:
2022 2021
—EoC—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAET
PRC a8 18,245 12,807
Hong Kong BB 47,409 69,726
65,654 82,533
108 Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2022
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
those described in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Operating segment information

The Group is principally engaged in a single type business of research,
development, manufacturing and trading of electronic devices, while the
revenue from provision of online information and digital marketing
services contributed less than 1% to the Group’s consolidated revenue.
Information reported to the board of directors, being the chief operating
decision maker, for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment focuses on revenue analysis by products. No other discrete
financial information is provided other than the Group’s results and
financial position as a whole. Accordingly, only entity-wide disclosure,
major customers and geographical information are presented.

Geographical information
Non-current assets of the Group are presented based on the
geographical location as follows:

8.

7 &E
155 OB HRERG A M REH S RHIAN
R -

REDBER

AKBETRNENE REREEETRENE R
BET MR LAALBF L HREHEAD
MASEGEWRAN 1% - EHMEESL2® - B
ELBERARE  NMEHEINEBER ZREH TN
EITERD I MG - RIBHASERE R ERIG
RSN - BEER M E B B TS E R - Bt - E27)
HEHRE ITEREPRMIBEN -

o 72 R

AEBENERBEERMWEMEZSAT ¢

2022 2021

—E-— —E-—F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Hong Kong B - 560
PRC H 56 3,849
56 4,409

Non-current assets include property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is

FRBEAEBRENE  BEIREREREEE -

BRAEEREMEP WA RRE A TR
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE
8.

10.

T —F+-A=+—HItFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8.

Information about major customers

The Group’s customer base included three (2021: two) customers with
whom transactions have exceeded 10% of its revenue during the year

DEE R (&)

BREETEEFHNEHR
REERFANESERHIIHT -
(ZZZ—F MB)XHIBBAEERZ10%0HE

EheER=F

is set out as below: =K
2022 2021
g —E_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Customer A ZEA 20,343 -
Customer B ZFB 15,992 -
Customer C BFEC 6,708 -
Customer D (note (j)) BEED(MEE() - 47,280
Customer E (note (i) BEERE®) - 15,953
0] These customers did not contribute over 10% of the total 0] HE_Z--_F+-_A=1+—HIEFE %5
turnover of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022. BEEFEMZREEAEEZ B K ETEBB
10% °
REVENUE 9. Uz

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by major

FR - REIBERIMBEREDHNEFP G HKRAMR

products or service line for the year is as follows: N
2022 2021
—E-C—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Revenue from contracts with customers BBV HERELAE15REBENZ
within the scope of HKFRS 15 EEA#HKE
Products and services transferred at a point TR0 [B] Bh B2 5 2 g S R T -
in time:
Provision of online information and RHG FEMRET L HERE
digital marketing services 338 -
Sales of manufactured products BIKEMREE 17,907 12,807
Sales on trading of electronic products, ETEM EBEEEMAESHE
accessories and raw materials 47,409 69,726
65,654 82,533
OTHER INCOME 10. HfblgA
2022 2021
—E:-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Gain on modification of a lease contract BRBEEA Nz W - 16
Interest income FLEWA 3 3
Sales of scrap BERIHE 1,448 -
Others Eh 1 27
1,452 46
Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / £ E $§ & 2022 109



NO1E D e
MR SRR MY ot
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_T_—_F+_A=+—HIFE

inancial Statement

11. FINANCE COSTS 11. B¥EHR
2022 2021
—E2-= T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Interest on lease liabilities HEEEFE 122 157
Effective interest expense on convertible bonds AR EHER | EF X 1,904 1,353
Others Hib - 32
2,026 1,542
12. LOSS BEFORE TAX 12. BREAIEE
The Group’s loss before tax is stated after charging/(crediting) the REBBRBATEIE LB (GTA) U T&ERD
following: iR -
2022 2021
—E-C—F —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt st FExT FAET
Depreciation LTRBEZIE
— Owned assets —BREE (@) 254 412
— Right-of-use assets — EREEE (b) 2,086 2,746
Staff costs (including directors’ BEIRA(BIEEEHS)
emoluments)
— Salaries, bonus and allowances — o TEAROFR 4,392 4,850
— Share-based payments — LARRD BEBEM R 1,136 67
— Retirement benefits scheme — RIKEFET BT
contributions 270 202
5,798 5,119
Cost of inventories sold EEFEKRA 62,400 78,520
Foreign exchange loss, net SN SRR 38 1
Short-term lease charges on premises MEZRHEEER 166 843
Auditors’ remuneration =BT EN & 570 770
Impairment losses for right-of-use assets 18 Fi 1 & 2= Rl 5518 2,080 -
Provision for allowance of inventories FERE - 428
Impairment losses for associates Bt A QB 2 R ERE = 7,963
Impairment losses for trade receivables & U AR ZORE 518 49 503
(Reversal of impairment losses)/ Efth U kI 2 CRUESE
impairment losses for other receivables  #[a) R{AE B (130) 1,431
Written off of inventories FEHE 3,750 -
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BE
12.

13.

—ECF+-A=+—HILFE

LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued) 12. BRBATEE (&)

Notes: HiaE -

(@) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment of approximately (@ HE_TZ-_—_F+-A=+—HILFE 9% BE
HK$78,000 (2021: HK$380,000) for the year ended 31 December 2022 is [BHTE L 78,0008 7T (=T = —4F : 380,000
included in cost of sales. BIT)  FEAHE 2R

(b) Depreciation of right-of-use assets of approximately HK$510,000 (2021: (b) BE-Z-_—_F+-A=+—HLFE FHAREE
HK$792,000) for the year ended 31 December 2022 is included in cost of PrEE49/510,00087C( =T =—%F : 792,000/%7T)
sales. FTASHE ZRA ©

INCOME TAX 13. FifBHi

2022 2021
—ECoC—F —ET-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BEATIE — HENEH
Over-provision in prior years BAFEBREEE = 53
Total tax credit for the year FATIE P LA = 53

Under the two-tiered profits tax regime, one of the Company’s Hong
Kong subsidiaries is subjected to Hong Kong Profits Tax at the rate of
8.25% for the first HK$2 million of its estimated assessable profits and
at 16.5% on its estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million. Other
Hong Kong subsidiaries not qualifying for the two-tiered profit tax
Regime are subjected to Hong Kong Profits Tax at the rate of 16.5% for
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is required since the Hong
Kong subsidiaries have sufficient tax losses brought forward to set off
against current year’s assessable profits.

The tax rate applicable to the Group’s PRC subsidiaries were 25%
(2021: 25%) during the year.

No provision for PRC EIT is required since the PRC subsidiaries has no
assessable profit for the year for the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021.
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13.

14.

112

INCOME TAX (continued)

The reconciliation between the income tax credit and the loss before
tax multiplied by the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of the Group is as

follows:

13. FRiSH ()
AREBFE RIS BB BATEIERA B AR SR LN
KR :

2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loss before tax MRFE B ETE (21,515) (23,290)
Tax at the domestic tax rate of 16.5% BRAMAE 16.5%

(2021: 16.5%) (ZZ=—F : 16.5%) 5T EMBIE (3,550) (3,843)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BARTANT BT E (1) 6)
Tax effect of share of results of associates DR E AR EENT TR 1,196 327
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible Ne[FIFE G L A T A o 28 1,242 2,450
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERHIEEENHEZE 1,803 1,520
Over-provision in prior years BEFERERE - 53
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REM A ERAER

operating in other jurisdiction WERAR TR ENTE (690) (448)
Income tax credit for the year FRAMEHIER = 53
DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 14. EEREEHS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) ESM<

The emoluments paid or payable in respect a person’s services B ER AR A RS E M B A B R AR
as a director, whether of the Company, or its subsidiaries BrzEEHEOT
undertaking were as follows:
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-Z-—F+-A=t+—HLEFE
Retirement
benefits
Salaries and scheme Share-based
Fees  allowances contributions payment Total
BB DY 3ips]
BH FERE BE 8 EBHER st
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TERT TERT TERT TER TERT
Executive directors HITES
Wang Li TR - 240 - - 240
Zhou Chuang Qiang IEEE: - 240 - 216 456
Independent non-executive BIYFHTES
directors
Zheng Wan Zhang (iv) B (i) 145 - - - 145
Man Wai Lun (v) NEEWY 120 - - - 120
Wong Tik Tung TR 145 - - - 145
410 480 - 216 1,106
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

(@) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

14. EEREESME (F)

(a) EEM< (E)
BE-_Z-_—F+-A=t—BHIFE

Retirement
benefits
Salaries and scheme
Fees allowances  contributions Total
RIKEAF
BR  HFEREE REGT st
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET FET FET
Executive directors HITES
Wang Li TE - 240 - 240
Wu Yong Fu (i) RKE () - 240 - 240
Zhou Chuang Qiang I EES - 240 - 240
Non-executive directors FHITES
Chong Yu Keung (i) THEEE () 112 - - 112
Independent non-executive B FHITEE
directors
Huang Jian (i) {2 (iii) 90 - - 90
Zheng Wan Zhang (iv) BT (iv) 180 - - 180
Man Wai Lun (v) IR (V) 52 - - 52
Wong Tik Tung TR 180 - - 180
614 720 - 1,334
Notes: Mtat

(i) Resigned on 31 August 2021

(if) Resigned on 16 August 2021

(i) Resigned on 30 June 2021

(iv) Resigned on 13 February 2023

(V) Appointed on 26 July 2021

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or

agreed to waive any emoluments during the year.
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(continued)

14. EEREESME (E)

(b) Five highest paid individuals b) EEBREFMAL
The five highest paid individuals in the Group for the year ended BE_Z-_—_F+_A=+—RHLLFE &%
31 December 2022 included one (2021: one) director who ERrtseiMALeE—&(ZE=—%F:
emolument is reflected in the analysis presented above. The —B)EF HeRER EXXFREINEH ST
emoluments of the four (2021: four) individuals are set out below Foo R (ZEZ—F - WE) ATHEE D 5
respectively: AT -
2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Basic salaries and allowances EARH & KEM 1,674 1,236
Share-based payments AR5 B ETR A5 3K 30 17
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RUREFIFH B 66 45
1,770 1,298
The emoluments fell within the following band: MEeBR T5&EE :
Number of individuals
A
2022 2021
—E-C—F —ET-—F
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 =% 1,000,000 7T 4 4
There was no discretionary bonus paid or payable to any of the BHE-T-—FR=-T=-_—F+=-A=+—H
directors and the five highest paid individuals during the years IHFE - UEAERNEERAESESHHAL
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. A SRR BV IEAL o
No emolument was paid by the Group to any of the directors or BE-T-—FR=-ZT=-_—F+=-A=+—H
the highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon LEFE  AEERERTHNESSITSHMMA
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office during the TR RERMESEAINERMBEARERE RS
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. BN AR -
(c) Senior management’s emoluments (c) EREEAENHS
Senior management represents the executive directors. The EMEBEABERITES - RGN - BISE
emoluments paid or payable to senior management during the NFEREBABZHEEEHN LA25|M5H
year have been set out in the analysis presented above. e o
(d) Directors’ material interests in transactions, (d EBERXS ZEREGHNPEENEK
arrangements or contracts =
No significant transaction, arrangement and contract in relation RRAEEREFEFRERRARIRAEE
to the Group’s business to which the Company was a party and PRI BRI ENE MR AE R
in which a director of the Company and the director’s connected BEARG  RHREHT  ERIEEEEE
party had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, Rz o
subsisted at the end of the year of at any time during the year.
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14.

15.

16.

17.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 14. EEREESME (F)

(continued)

(e) During the year, certain directors and employees were granted () RFAR HETEZEREERBEBEARRAMERE
share options, in respect of services to the Group under share FTEIMASERE R MERERE - B4
option scheme of the Company. Details of the share option RERRIEET BB BN AR B B SRR IS4 o
schedule are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIVIDEND 15. RE

No dividend had been paid or declared by the Company during the year AARRFRABERN RS REMRE(ZE=—F:

(2021 Nil). m) .

LOSS PER SHARE 16. BERERE

(@) Basic loss per share (@) BREXER

2022 2021
g —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loss EE

Loss for the purpose of calculating basic AR EERERRES
and diluted loss per share EENEE (18,377) (22,598)
Number of shares BHEE 1,030,738,970 1,030,738,970

(b) Diluted loss per share
The effects of the Company’s potential ordinary shares in respect
of the outstanding share options and convertible bonds are anti-
dilutive for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The Group’s
contributions to the MPF Scheme are calculated at 5% of the salaries
and wages subject to a monthly maximum amount of HK$1,500 (2021:
HK$1,500) per employee and vest fully with employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC are
members of a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute certain
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and wages to the central
pension scheme to fund the retirement benefits. The local municipal
government undertakes to assume the retirement benefits obligations of
all existing and future retired employees of these subsidiaries. The only
obligation of these subsidiaries with respect to the central pension
scheme is to meet the required contributions under the scheme.

There was no forfeited contribution in respect of the defined contribution
plan available at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / & & #f & 2022

17.

(b) BREEEE
REE S _FR_ZT_—F+A=+—
HIEFE - ARAF MARTTE AR E R TR
BERZBEERRZERREERE -

BUERGE
AEBRBEESRHIEATRSHBEO ABBMAS
BisEBEFRFIEATESTE ((RESHE]) - &
EEHRBRSHECEHRRFTERTENS%E -
HEZEESARSESEA1500BT(ZT_—F :
1,500 70 ) RAE M58 T8 & aT BIE RS 2 SR B R 2
i

A E R BRI RO B A B R E 8 20075 KT
BENTHREARSEE - ZEMBARARSREK
S ERESEAFARTENE TASLER N
RBRREFIREAES o 77 DR R A EZ SN E
RAAERA AR KEBORKENEE - %F
MIE AR B IR R E 5 BINME— B ERBENFTEE
THRERIHR

RIBEZZFR T F+-_A=+—HUIETH
WIETE 2 B U AT A -
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otes to the Financial Statements

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. Y%  BERRME
Motor Furniture Office Plant and
vehicles and fixture equipment machinery Total
"E EAREE BARE BERMSE @st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT
Cost &
At 1 January 2021 RZZE-_—%—F—H - 11 1,799 1,579 3,389
Disposals e - - (48) - (48)
Exchange realignment I 5 AR - - 3 49 52
At 31 December 2021 and NZB-—E+-A=+—-HkK
1 January 2022 —E-_-F—f—H - 11 1,754 1,628 3,393
Additions wE 193 - - - 193
Exchange realignment EXAZ (6) (1) © (128) (144)
At 31 December 2022 R-—B-_—F+=-HA=+—H 187 10 1,745 1,500 3,442
Accumulated depreciation and RNMERFERE
impairment loss
At 1 January 2021 N-E-_—F—HF—H - 6 1,731 1,125 2,862
Charge for the year FRFL - 2 30 380 412
Disposals HE - - (48) - (48)
Exchange realignment B 5 A% - - 2 41 43
At 31 December 2021 and RZE-—F+-A=+—-HFK
1 January 2022 —E--&#—HF—H - 8 1,715 1,546 3,269
Charge for the year FREX 145 3 28 78 254
Exchange realignment EXAZE (6) (1) (6) (124) (137)
At 31 December 2022 N-B-—#+-A=+-—H 139 10 1,737 1,500 3,386
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 December 2022 W-B-—F+-A=+-8 48 - 8 - 56
At 31 December 2021 WZZE-_—%+-A=+—H - 3 39 82 124
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. FHEEE
Leased Leased
properties equipments Total
HEWE HERE st
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
AT FHET FHET
At 1 January 2021 R-_EBE-_—F—HF—H 3,224 - 3,224
Additions E 2,571 1,948 4,519
Written off due to early termination IR R 4R eI oA (713) - (713)
Depreciation e (2,405) (341) (2,746)
Exchange realignment I X8 1 - 1
At 31 December 2021 and R-TB-_—F+-A=+—HEK
1 January 2022 —E-—F#—H—H 2,678 1,607 4,285
Depreciation E (1,427) (659) (2,086)
Impairment losses BIEEE (1,183) (897) (2,080)
Exchange realignment ERAE (68) (51) (119)
At 31 December 2022 R-EB-_—H+=-B=+—H - - -
As at the end of the reporting period, the lease liabilities recognised REEHR  BRE L FRAEEERBENHERRE
related to the above right-of-use assets are as follows: W
Leased Leased
properties equipments Total
HEWE HERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FHAT
At 31 December 2022 R-EBE-_—_F€+=-B=+—H 1,181 895 2,076
At 31 December 2021 R-ZE-_—F+-_A=1+—H 2,719 1,623 4,342
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19.

118

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor.
Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

19. EHEEE (H)
BIEEASENASEEFNIBRESI  AERR
TR RS - HEBETSBIELERR -

2022 2021

—E-— —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FrET

Depreciation expenses on right-of-use assets FRREEZNERY 2,086 2,746

Impairment losses for right-of-use assets ERREEREEE 2,080 -
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEEEZFEMXZ

(included in finance cost) GtAMBER) 122 157

Total cash outflow for lease HEMERES R A% 2,254 3,562

The Group has lease contracts for various items of office buildings,
factory and other equipment for its operations. Leases of factory and
other equipment generally have lease terms between 1 and 3 years.
Office buildings generally has lease terms of 12 months or less and/or is
individually of low value. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

Due to the uncertainty on the volatility of economic environment may
progress and evolve, the directors conducted the impairment
assessment and determined the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is lower than the carrying amount. The impairment
amount has been allocated to right-of-use assets. Based on the value
in use calculation, impairment loss of HK$2,080,000 has been
recognised against the carrying amount of right-of-use assets. The
recoverable amounts of the right-of-use assets have been determined
on the basis of their value in use of the cash generating unit (“CGU”)
using discounted cash flow method. The key assumptions for the
discounted cash flow method are those regarding the discount rates,
growth rates and budgeted gross margin and turnover during the
period. The Group estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the CGU. The growth rates are based on long-term
average economic growth rate of the geographical area in which the
businesses of the CGU operate. Budgeted gross margin and turnover
are based on past practices and expectations on market development.

AEEBARECHPWARE THEEBRESS
BIEAVEEAL - THEEMRBHER KRR
1E3F - PARBHEA—RA12BEARER R, 3
ERIBERE - HEGRDEBEILE L #E - 25
BB R R AR o PR TEAE B R AT Ak S AT =) 2R
MMRER  NEBERASONERLETESL S
IR THO AR o

HAREERSFRES THRMARSHREY  EFETHE
BB TECRSELESM 2 IKESBELKE
B -RESHEEIRECAEEE - RECHEME
E EHCEAEEEROAERRBRAEBEYD
2,080,000 7T © £ AEEE N ESEIIRIERS
EXEMN((BeELEBEN)NEREERARSR
BEUREET - AEeRBRBEN T EZRIZUST
TORER FEHEEMNERBAANRS - AEEFRKR
BRI B R RENTIS T E RS EE BN
TERBOBRBIATL BAFT AR R o« MREENR G E
EBNEEEBERAORPFIEELERE -8
HEMERERERNBEEBRETISERNTEE -

Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2022



B S SR B

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_T-__F+-_HA=+—HIFE

20.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. REE QAT 2ERE
2022 2021
—E-C—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
Unlisted investments: FLEHRE : FET FHIT
Share of net assets NIEEEFE 13,906 22,717
Goodwill FEES 7,963 7,963
21,869 30,680
Less: impairment losses B R E RS R (7,963) (7,963)
13,906 22,717
Amount due to an associate FEAS —FEH & A RIZRIA 906 —

Investments in associates represents investments in unlisted equity
securities, details of the Group’s associates at 31 December 2022 are

REE QRN EERIEEMBRAFSFNRE - NE
ER T —F+_A=t+—BZBERARFEHT

as follows: m
Place of
incorporation/ Registered/ Percentage of Principal activities and
Name establishment paid up capital ownership interest place of operation
Z8 HMRY, RImE M HERE BERESEASL TEEBRKE W
Direct Indirect
B S

N BRI A E The PRC, RMB100,000,000/ 25% — Leasing of new energy cars,

RIEAR R A 30 November 2015 RMB10,000,000 (2021: 25%) sale of cars and accessories

([ etc., the PRC
N BIEER T E HE AER#100,000,0007T, 25% - BEWRRAE  HEAE

RBERLRA e TS AR¥10,000,000 (ZTZ—F: RFefs -

(THUMHTE]) +—A=+AH 25%)
Celestial Rainbow BVI, USD50,000/ 46% - Manufacturing and trading of

Limited (“Celestial”) 9 June 2017 USD100 (2021: 46%) electronic products,

the PRC

Celestial Rainbow REHERRES 50,000% 7T,/ 46% - BEREEEFEMRF

Limited ( Celestial |) —tFRANE  100%T (ZZ=—F:

46%)

The following table shows information of the associates that are material TRETHASEBS ANBEATNER « ZE5H
to the Group. These associates are accounted for in the consolidated ERRIRAERENGE M BREAR - FT2FROE
financial statements using the equity method. The summarised financial BEBEDIRBEE A RNMBRERR -
information presented is based on the financial statements of the
associates.
Name £ MNHTE Celestial
Principal place of business/Country TELEMI MR ER PRC/PRC PRC/BVI

of incorporation

HE RE
REERRHES

% of ownership interests/voting rights AREBEZAN ﬁﬁﬁ TERERS 25%/25% 46%/46%

held by the Group HEEED

Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / & & #f & 2022
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20.

120

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

20. REE QT 2% (E)

BN TR Celestial
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F —s=-= —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FHET THExT FHIT
At 31 December: W+=—A=+—8":
Non-current assets ETEEE 1,723 8,393 903 1,837
Current assets REEE 11,409 8,564 47,937 79,211
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (186) (186) = -
Current liabilities mENEE (16,786) (18,895) (18,610) (31,664)
Net (liabilities)/assets (BE) BEFE (3,840) (2,124) 30,230 49,384
Group’s share of net assets AEBDHEEFE - - 13,906 22,717
Goodwill RS - - 7,963 7,963
- - 21,869 30,680
Less: impairment losses S REEE - - (7,963) (7,963)
- - 13,906 22,717
Year ended 31 December: BE+-A=+—HLEE:
Revenue Wz 7,746 417 - 7,235
Loss for the year FREE (1,631) (728) (15,756) (4,302)
Other comprehensive income Hib 2EUA - - (3,398) 1,665
Loss and total comprehensive FAEER
income for the year e PN (1,631) (728) (19,154) (2,637)

The Group has not recognised loss for the year amounting to
approximately HK$408,000 (2021: HK$182,000) for 4t 1 4 2. The
accumulated losses not recognised were approximately HK$926,000

(2021: HK$518,000).

As at 31 December 2022, the bank and cash balances of the Group’s
associates in the PRC denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$15,000 (2021: HK$170,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administrative of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations.

—=— —

—_=

S

T(ZEZ

F+ZA=Z+—8B AEERFEH
NAIAARBEHRIT KRS RL 515,000 &
—4 :170,000/87T) - AR KB RINE
B PEARKATMBEINES GO RAEE EERA
B NI R B4R PR ©

7N ER B AN N0 AR BLAUN T B 1 R BT 18 49 408,000 7
TL(ZZT=—F 1 182,000/ 7T) - KHERRTEIEL
75926,0008 7T (= F = —4F : 518,000 7T) ©

s
HPAEA
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-_Z-_—_#+-A=+—BHItFE
21. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

Investment in a joint venture represents investment in unlisted equity
securities, details of the Group’s joint venture at 31 December 2022
and 2021 are as follows:

21.

R—BEELXRNRE
R—MASRENRAERIE EMRAESORE -

AEERZZT==
AEDEFBOT

k=T =—F+=ZA=+—HBH

Place of Paid up Percentage of Principal activities and
Name incorporation capital HK$ ownership interest  place of operation
£18 &E 18 B 7 1tk Bh HERAE T HEREEZEIL TEEBRRKEHME
MPEL Hong Kong, 10,000 Direct, 51%  Trading of cosmetic products,
28 June 2019 (2021: 51%) Hong Kong
[EREF HE 10,000 HE 51% EBE&Eum &E
—F-hEF TEC—F:51%)
~AZ+N\HB

The Group holds 51% of the voting rights of the joint venture. The
directors have determined that the Group has joint control over the joint
venture as under the contractual agreement, it appears that unanimous
consent is required from all parties to the agreement for all relevant
activities.

Joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements
using the equity method. The summarised financial information
presented below is based on the financial statements of the joint

AEBNEGELERELIRERER - BT IR
BAOGE  AEEHASREAHFAZEHE  —1)
HEEE . MR ZBEREM B HET —BAE -

BEMERARDENGRMBREALR - T2
MBERMRBENRES EEXNUBHREAH -

venture.

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
At 31 December: R+=—A=+—-8H:
Current assets B E 341 2,036
Current liabilities mEAE (2,036) (2,036)
Net liabilities BEFE (1,695) -
Group’s share of net assets AEEDHWEEFE - -
Year ended 31 December: BE+-A=1+—HLEFE:
Revenue & - -
Loss and total comprehensive FREBEREZERAEE
income for the year (1,695) (142)
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INVENTORIES 22, EFE
2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Raw materials R - 2,525
Finished goods and merchandise BRI o M - 689
- 3,214

At the end of reporting period, the Group’s inventories were stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value.

RIEHR - ARE 2 FEIIERAE A Z 35 FER
EBREEIR -

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. FEWERR
2022 2021
—E-—F& —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
Trade receivables R 3N 22,775 55,215
Less: Impairment loss B ORE R E (934) (885)
21,841 54,330
The Group’s trading terms with its major customers is either on credit AEEHEEFERFNE KRR EREXAAERIRE
or to provide the Group with irrecoverable letters of credit issued by HEBREFNRITAEITHR B0ENH(ZE
reputable banks, with terms within 60 to 90 days (2021: 60 to 90 days). Z—F :60E90 H) MR RAI M EEAE « ANEH
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding TSRS R EE EWGR I 1T BRAR IR 6 - A4S s E
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the directors. FEHEH -
An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables, based on the AEERER B P EAEERRORERANOT
invoice date is as follows:
2022 2021
—s=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
0-30 days 0%30A = 15,411
31-60 days 31260H - 465
61-90 days 61290 H = 5,657
Over 90 days QB £ 21,841 32,897
21,841 54,330
122
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BE
23.

T —F+-A=+—HItFE
TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

As of 31 December 2022, trade receivables of approximately
HK$21,841,000 (2021: HK$38,919,000) were past due. These trade
receivables related to customers for whom there was no recent history
of default. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables, based on due
date, is as follows:

23.

e R K (4])
BE_Z_—_F+_A=+—8"  BEREZRYD
21,841,000/ 7t (= Z — — 4 : 38,919,000/ 7T) B
e ZERWRRE T AT HENCENEFA
B o REEWERFIZE SRS EMNRR ST T ¢

2022 2021

—E-— —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHT

0-30 days 0&30H - 465
31-60 days 31260H 772 35,595
Over 60 days 60 B £ 21,069 2,859
21,841 38,919

The Group does not charge interest or hold any collateral over these
balances.

The Group applied simplified approach to provide the ECL as
prescribed by HKFRS 9. The impairment methodology is set out in
notes 5(w) and 7(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the credit risk assessment are included in note 7(b) to the
consolidated financial statement.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that there is no
significant increase of credit risk regarding the outstanding balances of
trade receivables over due for over 60 days as at 31 December 2022
and 2021, after carefully considered (i) the payment patterns and credit
history of these customers; and (i) the amounts recovered subsequent
to the end of the reporting periods.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables at the end of
reporting period are denominated in the following currencies:

AR R B3 R 5% S5 A AR YOI R B Bl B (R R @ o

REFERBEBVHRELENEOFAEHABLT
ERMTEEE BB - BES ZHRNGRAMBERE
MiFE5W) K 7(b) °

EERBRFHEFBRNGA M IERERMETD)

EEHZER(NZERPZAFT A REERS &)
BAFEERBRESRREKE RAREERARZ
T _FRZIF—F+-A=1+—H OHBB6
60K 2 FEUWBERCR BB 484 2 B R I 48 K g 38
hne

AREE RS AR B USR KRB EA T I B’
B:

2022 2021
—E-C—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHExT FHT
HK$ BT 11,943 2,859
us$ VI 9,898 45,449
RMB AR - 6,022
21,841 54,330
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24.

25.

124

OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 24, HEWFRIE  AARERERS
DEPOSITS
An analysis of the Group’s other receivables, prepayments and AEBMEMBEWE BAFERES (FIBRRE)
deposits, net of impairment, is as follows: BT -
2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Deposits B& 135 4,039
Other receivables i JEYRIE 1,018 5,482
Amount due from a non-controlling shareholder &L — £ FE3% A% I R 118
(note (a)) (37 (a)) - 260
Prepayments TEfTKIE 110 -
1,263 9,781

Note (a):  The amount due is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

BANK AND CASH BALANCES 25,

At the end of reporting period, the bank and cash balances of the
Group are denominated in the following currencies:

Wit (a) - FEUGRIEAERT - 28 RARERFEE -

RITRBEEER

RIWEHR - ARERRITRBRSEHRIZTIIERE

& :

2022 2021

—E-C—F —T-—F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FHxT FAET

HK$ I 310 109
RMB AR 1,315 2,495
us$ ESI 30 4
1,655 2,608

Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.
Exchange of RMB into other currencies is permitted through bank
authorised to conduct exchange business.

AR BB INE RS B BIOME E B G R AERE - &
BE R (T EESMNEGRHIFRIR - AR AR BEREETE

REBORTRAREMLEE -
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26. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables, based on the invoice

date is as follows:

26. IR
AEEERE AW ENENEROEBR ST :

2022 2021

—E-— —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THExT FHT

0-30 days 0% 30H - 3,441
31-60 days 312 60H - 2,404
61-90 days 61 %290 H - 2,464
Over 90 days 9B £ 551 26,712
551 35,021

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables at the end of

AEE NG RO BN RKNREEA T IIEREE

reporting period are denominated in the following currencies: &
2022 2021
—E-—F& —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR THET
HKS$ BT - 906
RMB AR 551 11,476
uss ET - 22,639
551 35,021

27. OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND

ACCRUED EXPENSES

27. HtENFR CREIEREER

2022 2021

—E-__—F —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FHT

Accruals for operations K FERTIEE 2,812 1,313

Accruals for staff costs FEEFE TR 2,501 5,141
Amounts due to a director of a subsidiary B —HE B ARz —RESRNKIE

(note (a)) (K13t (@) 2,331 1,661

VAT payable FEFHEERT 293 -

Others HAh 5,595 7,154

13,532 15,269

Note (a):  The amount due is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
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28.

126

CONVERTIBLE BONDS
2019 Convertible bonds (“2019 CB”)

The convertible bonds were issued on 5 March 2019. The bonds are
convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at any time between
the date of issue of the bonds and 26 February 2021. The bonds are
convertible to an aggregated of 55,555,555 ordinary shares of the
Company at HK$0.36 per share. The maturity date is on the second
anniversary of the issue date. If the bonds are not converted, they shall
be redeemed at par, with interest of 4% per annum.

The convertible bonds were matured on 14 March 2021 and the
Company redeemed the convertible bonds at HK$20,000,000 together
with accrued interest.

2021 Convertible bonds (“2021 CB”)

The convertible bonds were issued on 2 July 2021. The bonds are
convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at any time after the
period of twelve months commencing from the issue date and till the
fifth business day prior to the maturity date. The bonds are convertible
to an aggregated of 166,666,667 ordinary shares of the Company at
HK$0.12 per share. The maturity date is on the second anniversary of
the issue date.

If the bonds are not converted, they shall be redeemed at par with
interest of 4% per annum.

28.

ARRES
“E-NEFEUEREF (22— AFTERE
%1
ABBREER T NAE=ARARET - EFANE
EBRTAME_T - —F - A= +/NB 2R Ek%
BRRAREBE - EHTIEFR036BTERAS
55,555,555 R A AR E B - BIHIA A% A
ZE_ERF - WEFRELR  HEREERED -
BRFME A% ZHE -

ARKREFER - ZE-_—F=A+WMBEEH A2 7
B 38 38 20,000,000 7 7T 38 7 & 51 7| B.08 | AT 2 BR (&
gg’; °

TEC-FURREF (B —FURKRE
%1
ABMBREHFR T _—FLAZRAET - BHFARE
THHE+ERAZERHMARMNEAELEAHH
BERS R AR R A E@R - EHAIIEER012B T
HiRAE 166,666,667 RANA R EBR - BIHIB A
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28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 28. TBRKES (&)
2021 Convertible bonds (“2021 CB”) (continued) —E - FUBRESE(ZE-—F7BRKRE
% 1) ()
The net proceeds received from the issue of the 2021 CB have been BT —FAHRRESFZERMBRIBFEER
split between the liability element and an equity component, as follows: BEND RESHS Z2EEDSERET -
2021CB
—E-—F
AR E S
HK$’000
FERT
Nominal value of convertible bonds issued E%‘éﬁ‘ﬁ’*‘ﬂﬁ%%ﬁ’\]@fﬁ 20,000
Equity component el (2,212)
Liability component at date of issue RETEBRZB8EHD 17,788
Movements of the liability component during the reporting period are as MERAANBEDLBHIOEEIOT -
follows:
2019CB 2021CB Total
—E-hEF —E-—F
AR ES AR E S st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FAET
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-_—F—H—H 21,132 - 21,132
At issuance of the instrument MEETT AR - 17,788 17,788
Redeemed [BYE (21,600) - (21,600)
Interest charged (note 11) U ER B FILB (e 11) 468 885 1,353
At 31 December 2021 and RZTE-_—F+-A=+—8H
1 January 2022 r—ZFE-_—_F—F—H - 18,673 18,673
Interest charged (note 11) WERE R B (BtaF 11) - 1,904 1,904
At 31 December 2022 R-E-—F+-A=+—H - 20,577 20,577

The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying an effective
interest rate of 10.20% (2021: 10.20% to 11.58%) to the liability
component for the 24 months period since the bonds were issued.
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29. LEASE LIABILITIES

30.

Minimum lease payments

20. HEEE

Present value of
minimum lease payments

BIERAENRE BEAEREZRE
2022 2021 2022 2021
B —F —E-—F —E—— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FET FHET
With one year —FR 1,570 2,254 1,515 2,129
More than one year, but not —F A HET BB F
exceeding two years 566 2,278 561 2,218
2,136 4,532 2,076 4,342
Less: Future finance charges B RRRVEER (60) (1900 N/AFEA N/A7TE A
Present value of lease obligations ~HHESEZIRE 2,076 4,342 2,076 4,342
Less: Amount due for settlement R12EARBEEE
within 12 months (shown FE(RREEaE
under current liabilities) TFHIR) (1,515) (2,129)
Amount due for settlement P12 B ARG E 2 508
after 12 months 561 2,213

The average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities is 4%
(2021: 4%).

DEFERRED TAXATION

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$42,479,000 (2021: HK$33,448,000) that are
available for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets
have not been recognised in respect of these losses due to
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax
losses are losses HK$16,366,000 (2021: HK$10,392,000) that will
expire in 5 years from 2023 to 2027. Other tax losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT, a withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries
from 1 January 2008 onwards.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, deferred taxation has not been
provided in the financial statements in respect of temporary difference
attributable to profits earned by the Group’s PRC subsidiaries
amounted to approximately HK$9,439,000 (2021: HK$9,962,000) since
1 January 2008 as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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30.

HEABEERAZMETFHESERFIRE4%(ZF
Z—F 1 4%) °

ELER IR

IR HIA - AN 5 B R B A A9 40 42,479,000 % 7T (=
T = —4F : 33,448,000 4 7T ) M B IE 5 1B R E IR 85 5K
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SHARE CAPITAL [} &S
Number of shares
RHEE
At HK$0.0016
per share HK$’000
#$ 5 0.0016 8 T FERT
Authorised EE
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, R=—Z-_—-%—A—H-
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 —E-_—H+=-B=+—8 -
—E-_H-AF-HK
—E-_—H+=-A=+—H 6,250,000,000 10,000
Issued 28T
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, R=-ZB=—-%—-A—H"
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 —E-_—%+=-B=+—AH -
—E-"f-F—-HRK
—E-_—_H+=-A=+—H 1,030,738,970 1,649

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise the
return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The capital structure of the Group comprises all
components of shareholders’ equity.

The Group reviews the capital structure frequently by considering the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue
of new debts, redemption of existing debts or selling assets to reduce
debts. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021.

The only externally imposed capital requirement is that for the Group to
maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it has to have a public float of
at least 25% of the shares. The Group receives a report from the share
registrars weekly on substantial share interests showing the non-public
float and it demonstrates continuing compliance with the 25% limit from
the date of the Listing. As of 31 December 2022, approximately 69%
(2021: 69%) of the shares were in public hands.
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32.

130

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

32. ERRQFZBBMRRE

COMPANY
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT FET
Non-current assets kREBEE
Property, plant and equipment W% - BB R = 3
Right-of-use assets EREEE - 557
Investment in a subsidiary B R EZI’E = -
- 560
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables T 308 K H Ath FE R IE 88 728
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE LA BfY B8 1 B RTE = 26,344
Bank and cash balances RITRBASHEH 6 97
94 27,169
Current liabilities REBaE
Other payables and accrued expenses HAbERRIE R EE B A 4,364 5,883
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAST BT B8 2 B RKIE = -
Convertible bonds AR ESH 20,577 -
Lease liabilities HEAE = 577
24,941 6,460
Net current (liabilities)/assets RE (AERHE)EEFE (24,847) 20,709
Total assets less current liabilities HEERABERE (24,847) 21,269
Non-current liabilities kREBEE
Convertible bonds AIARR E = 18,673
NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (BEFH) EEFRE (24,847) 2,596
Capital and reserves BAR#E
Share capital A% AR 1,649 1,649
Reserves it (26,496) 947
(DEFICIT)/TOTAL EQUITY (B4, R (24,847) 2,596

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29

March 2023.

Director

EE

HEFERN - E_=—F=-A-THBEEREET
.

Director

Z2F
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33. RESERVES
(@ Group
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

33. f#E
(a)

EEE

REENRERETNEBDEFSBEREAM
EERER LG EABERANET

(b) Company (b) Z&AF
Equity
component of
Share Option convertible
premium reserve bonds  Accumulated
(note 33(c)i))  (note 33(c)ii))  (note 33(c)(iv)) losses Total
ARKRESZ
RIDEE BRERE BEHS ES ] st
(KaE33(c)i)  (HizF33cn) (M 33(0))
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TR THT TR
At 1 January 2021 R-E-—-F—Hf—H 110,637 2,660 2,650 (113,241) 2,606
Repayment of convertible bonds {818 A2k (& % - - (2,650) 2,650 -
Issue of convertible bonds BT ESR - - 2,212 - 2,212
Recognition of share-based AR AETRE
payments 3 - 67 - - 67
Transfer of share option reserve 1B AR 1 4 e 6 BB A 2
upon lapse of share options [ - (1,337) - 1,337 -
Loss and total comprehensive FERBELREABREE
loss for the year - - - (3,938) (3,938)
At 31 December 2021 and R-Z-—F
1 January 2022 +-A=+-HBk
~“E-—F—-fA—H 110,537 1,390 2,212 (113,192) 947
Recognition of share-based ~ BRURHAEHMN
payments INE - 1,136 - - 1,136
Loss and total comprehensive FREERZEFEAE
loss for the year - - - (28,579) (28,579)
At 31 December 2022 RZB-—F
+=A=+-H 110,537 2,526 2,212 (141,771) (26,496)
Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / & [ 4R 4 2022 131
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33. RESERVES (continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
funds in the share premium account of the Company are
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary

course of business.

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue
of shares at a price in excess of their par value per share
and after deduction of capitalisation issue and issuance

costs of shares.

(ii) Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set
out in note 5(d)(iii) to the financial statements.

(i) Option reserve

Option reserve represents the fair value of the actual or
estimated number of unexercised share options granted to
employees of the Company recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for equity-settled
share-based payments in note 5(r) to the financial

statements.

(iv)  Equity component of convertible bonds

The equity component of convertible bonds represents the
value of the unexercised equity component of convertible
bonds issued by the Company recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for convertible bonds

in note 5(m) to the financial statements.
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34.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Equity-settled share option scheme

On 20 June 2014, written resolution of the shareholders of the
Company was passed to conditionally approve and adopt two share
option schemes namely, Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (“Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme”) and Share Option Scheme (“Share Option
Scheme”) to recognise and motivate the contributions that eligible
participants have made or may make to the Group. The Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme was valid and effective for a period commencing from
20 June 2014 to the date immediately prior to the Listing of the
Company (i.e. 17 July 2014), after which no further option to be
granted, but the provisions of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall
remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to
the exercise of any options granted prior thereto or otherwise as may
be required in accordance with the provisions of the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 20 June 2014
will remain in force for a period of ten years from its effective date to 19
June 2024.

Particulars of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and Share Option
Scheme of the Company are set out in Appendix IV to the Company’s
prospectus dated 27 June 2014.
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 34. URBHBEBROSIRGE)
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued) DREREEBRESTE (F)
Pursuant to a resolution of the board of directors passed on 4 June BREBEEFEN_ZT-NFAANBBBORER &
2019, it was resolved to grant an aggregate of 68,720,000 share RIZITEE SR 0.2412 8 ST i & $£68,720,000 13
options with exercise price of HK$0.2412 per share (2019 Share il 7 E = KR 8 %7 RIE AR 2 768,720,000 A% A% 17
Options”) entitling the directors and employees to subscribe for NERE ([ ZZ2-hEBRE]) -
68,720,000 shares of the Company.
Pursuant to a resolution of the board of directors passed on 10 June BEEEFER_T__FATHBBOHAZEER =&
2022, it was resolved to grant an aggregate of 103,072,000 share RIRITEE SR 0.0327 LI H A #£108,072,0001%
options with exercise price of HK$0.032 per share (2022 Share il T E = R B R AR AR F 108,072,000 B A& 17
Options”) entitling a director and employees to subscribe for MERE(ZE-—FBRE]) - A ARERE
103,072,000 shares of the Company. Details of the Company’s share ZEBERTX
options are set out below:
Granted
Date of grant of On during the On Exercise
Name of the options during 1 January reporting 31 December price per
grantee the reporting period 2022 period 2022  Vesting period Exercise period share option
REDRERE RIBZZF RZIBZZF SHERE
ARAKE REBH —-A—-B ®REHARE T=A=+-B BEH Gigd: THE
HKS
B
Zhou Chuang 10 June 2022 (A) - 10,000,000 10,000,000 N/A 10 June 2022 to 0.032
Qiang 9 June 2032
Bk ZZEZZFRATAA TiEA —?——EAH+Ei
—= ——i/ \ H j‘L El
Employees 10 June 2022 (B) - 46,536,000 46,536,000 10 June 2022 to 10 June 2023 to 0.032
9 June 2023 9 June 2032
B8 “T--FXATHB) 7——@/\)EH'E|j: “E-=FRATHE
—E-=%xANA —T=-®XANA
Employees 10 June 2022 (C) - 46,536,000 46,536,000 10 June 2022 to 10 June 2024 to 0.032
9 June 2024 9 June 2032
B8 _7__¢AH+E() —T--FXATHE —E-MEAATHE
“ToNERAAE ZEZZFSANA
Employees 4 June 2019 (D) 12,596,000 - 12,596,000 4 June 201910 4 June 2020 to 0.2412
3 June 2020 3 June 2029
EE —NERAEAE D) “T-NERANAE —ZE-TFAAMAE
S g e =| —E-NERAZH
Employees 4 June 2019 (E) 12,596,000 - 12,596,000 4 June 2019to 4 June 2021 to 0.2412
3 June 2021 3 June 2029
E& :?—ﬂiﬁﬂEE(E) “E-NEXANEE —E--FXAMAZE
“E-—%XA=H Z-NFRA=A
Total 25,192,000 103,072,000 128,264,000
@t
134 Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2022




RS REMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE
34.

T —F+-A=+—HItFE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)

Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their

related weighted average exercise price as follows:

Outstanding at the beginning of REARITE
the year

Granted during the year RERE S

Expired/lapsed/cancelled
during the year

Outstanding at the end of the year AERKITHE

Exercisable at the end of the year ~ RAFERAFT{E

RERBE, KT

34. URHHERNLTR(E)
DRSS EBRET S ()
RITHERERES B R LB NET ST E 2 Z8m
™
2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
Weighted Weighted
Number average Number average
of exercise of exercise
options price options price
InREF 15 hniEF
BIREHE TEE  EREHE 1TE(E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
25,192,000 0.2412 38,704,000 0.2412
103,072,000 0.032 - -
- - (13,512,000) 0.2412
128,264,000 0.0731 25,192,000 0.2412
35,192,000 0.1818 25,192,000 0.2412

As at 31 December 2022, options to subscribe for a total of
128,264,000 (2021: 25,192,000) option shares were still outstanding
under the Share Option Scheme which represents approximately

12.44% (2021: 2.44%) of the issued ordinary shares of the Company.

Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / & & #f & 2022
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 34.
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)
The above options comprising at the end of the year have a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 8.9 (2021: 7.5) years and the
weighted-average exercise price is HK$0.0731 (2021: HK$0.2412). The
estimated fair value of 2022 Share Options and 2019 Share Options are

significant inputs into the models were as follows:

AR5 R B 9 49 7K (48D

NS EBRETE (&)

FRBEN DRBERENMETHRSRE OB AR89
F(ZE-—F : 7.5F) RINEFHTEER0.0731
BR(ZZZ—F:0241287x) - ZTZ_FHBERK
R - E-NEBRE Mt A TERA B EE
determined using the Binomial Model. The estimated fair values and BE o et A TFERZERL 2 EEHABURNOT

2022 Share Options
TECFRERE
10 June 2022 10 June 2022 10 June 2022
(A) (B) (C)
—EB-—F —EB-CF —EBE-CF
A~A+H AA+H AA+H
(A) (B) (C)
Option price model B EBE Binomial Binomial Binomial
—ER —ER —ER
Estimated fair value at the Rt 2 BMNETAFE HK$216,000 HK$1,065,000 HK$1,180,000
measurement date BT BT BT
No. of options granted BB S B 10,000,000 46,536,000 46,536,000
Estimated fair value of each option  &{p & BEM AT AFE HK$0.022787t  HK$0.023%87T  HK$0.0253 T
Weighted average share price at RETE AR METFHRE HK$0.03138 T HK$0.0317& T HK$0.031 78 T
the measurement date
Weighted average exercise price IEFHITEE HK$0.03238 7t HK$0.032 7% 7t HK$0.032 3% 7T
Exercise multiple TR ES 3.34 2.86 2.86
Expected volatility TEHRR 1R 138.06% 138.06% 138.06%
Expected life TERHFHR 7.37 years & 7.85 years 8.66 years
Risk free rate #2 [ B ) 2.86% 2.86% 2.86%
Expected dividend yield TEEAAR Bl as Nil Z Nil Z Nil Z
2019 Share Options
TN F R E
4 June 2019 4 June 2019
D) (S
—E-hF —T-NEF
~NAMHE ~NAMHE
(D) ()
Option price model BT EER Binomial Binomial
.-y —ER
Estimated fair value at the measurement date REtE B a At AT E HK$1,334,000 HK$1,340,000
BT I
No. of options granted R SR 24,226,000 24,226,000
Estimated fair value of each option BipERENEETATE HK$0.055 77T HK$0.055 7 7T
Weighted average share price at RErE BRI NETFERE HK$0.13 /87T HK$0.1378 7T

the measurement date
Weighted average exercise price
Exercise multiple
Expected volatility
Expected life
Risk free rate
Expected dividend yield
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)

The expected volatility was determined by using the average of
annualised standard deviation of daily return of share price of three
comparable companies’ historical volatility quoted by Bloomberg.

Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited is an independent firm of
professional valuer appointed by the Company to carry out the fair value
of 2022 Share Options and Eidea Professional Services Company
Limited, an independent firm of professional valuer is appointed by the
Company to carry out the fair value of 2019 Share Options.

34.

LR 1 R E AR (&)
DEREEBRESTE (F)
8 535 18 T4 3 Bloomberg P W 3k = 81 AT & LL EX A A)
B LR B AR (E B RS R Y FLIZ R EE T -

YH AR NAR AT AAAAEENFE B
FRREOATENBIFRGEAT  TEETR
B ARL T RARAE AT - — A FHRE
A TFENB L HEEBAT -

The expenses of share-based payment recognised in profit and loss MEHARNBEBERZUARMN AEROMRE W
during the reporting period are as follows: N

2022 2021
—E2-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
2022 Share Options T FERE 1,136 -
2019 Share Options ZE-NFERE = 67
1,136 67

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as
follows:

35. RIBARZIRE
MBARR T FR=-F-_—F+=-A=+—H
2B

Place of incorporation/ Registered and Percentage of Principal activities and
Name establishment paid up capital ownership interest place of operation
g REMAR LR Lt B EfRHRRE REREREIL TEEBRESE Y
Direct Indirect
Hi A
Millennium Pacific International British Virgin Islands 1,000 ordinary 100% - Investment holding,
Group Limited 11 September 2013 shares of US$1 each Hong Kong
Millennium Pacific International HBHRAEE 1,000 REREE1ET BEER - BB
Group Limited —E-=FnA+—H # &k
Millennium Pacific Trading Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Investment holding, Hong Kong
10 October 2014
Millennium Pacific Trading Limited & 10,000 7T BEER - B
—Z-MEFTATH
Millennium Pacific Solutions Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Trading of electronic devices,
10 October 2014 Hong Kong
Millennium Pacific Solutions Limited B 10,000 7T BEFREES BB
—Z-MEFATH
Millennium Pacific Internet Finance Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Investment holding, Hong Kong
Services Company Limited 21 April 2015
ESATFEMEERRBERAT FE 10,000 7T REER - BH

—E-AFMA=+—H
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BE-_Z-_—_#+-_A=+—HItFE

35. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 35. RMBARZIRE (M)
Place of incorporation/ Registered and Percentage of Principal activities and
Name establishment paid up capital ownership interest place of operation
L FEMBAR LR 3L 30 B EMRAERA RERERBIL TEERREE LY
Direct Indirect
HiE 3
EE L ORI (B R R PRC Registered: RMB20,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding, PRC
BR AT (note 1) 21 May 2015 Paid up: RMB10,000,000
ERAF ORI BRI i B AR#20,000,000 7T REER - $E
BIRAR (M1) ZZ-RFRAZF—H #E : AR%10,000,0007T
FYBESEERAR PRC, Registered: RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Trading of electronic devices,
10 July 2017 Paid up: RMB600,000 PRC
FYIBEERBRAF e B AR#5,000,0007T LETHREES  hE
—ET—tH5tA+H S - AR#600,0007T
E U ORI BEERE AR AR PRC, Registered: RMB300,000 - 100%  Investment holding, PRC
4 August 2017 Paid up: RMB206,000
BT ORI BEREARRAR  HE w1 - AR#300,0007T REER - $E
—ZE-+E/\AMA S - AR#206,0007T
BRAR CRIDEFRISEERLAR  PRC, Registered: RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Manufacturing of electronic
28 September 2017 Paid up: RMB6,000 devices, PRC
BAAF RN EFREARAR FE B AR#5,000,0007T SEEFRE  PH
—T—tFAAZFTNB HRE: AR¥6,000T
BN (R REUEBEERAR PRC, Registered: RMB300,000 - 100%  Inactive, PRC
28 September 2017 Paid up: RMB6,000
BRAF ORI REBBERERAR FE B AR 300,0007T TEEL - PE
—T—tFAAZ+NB HRE: AR¥6,000T
FEE(EM) BEREERAR PRC, Registered: RMB1,000,000 - 80%  Development and sales of
(TFEEEEM 11 August 2017 Paid-up: RMB250,000 software applications, PRC
EE (BN BERBRAT e B AR#1,000,0007T Rt EAREANHEE R
(TEEEEM —Z—+ENA+T—H  #R: AR¥250,0007C HE  E
EREE(FA)ERAR PRC, Registered: RMB2,000,000 - 51%  Manufacturing of electronic
(DEBE (EA) D) (ote 2) 3 June 2021 Paid-up: RMB764,000 products, PRC
ERER(EHE)BRAR FE - ARH2,000,0007T EFEREE HE
(MEBEHR(BAE) D (Ht2) —ZE-—%XA=R #R - AR¥764,0007T
BABRATEERRERAR! PRC, Registered: RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Provision of online information
26 April 2021 Paid-up: RMB1,000,000 and digital marketing
services
BARRNFEEREERAR FE B - AR 1,000,000 7T RER FEAREFE
ZEZ-FMAZ+RE #R-: AR¥%1,0000007T 2 RS
Note 1: B N 77 ORYN) B B 2 % B R A Al is a wholly-foreign owned Haz1: BRAT CRY) BERBERAR AR A —HRE
enterprises established in the PRC. BRI B E
Note2: JE B E 22( E 7 ) A B 2 7l is a partly-foreign owned enterprises K2 ERER(ER) BRARA—BRPERKIHES
established in the PRC. INEFHRE -
# PRC companies with limited liability # PEEREERT
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35.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have non-
controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group. The summarised

35. RIERTZKRE (H)
TRETEMUAEETN S BEANIRRES (%
BRER ) OHBARAR - MBANEERRAR

financial information represents amounts before inter-company FEKHATR 258 -
eliminations.
ZEEEM EREEE(ER)
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C—F —E-—F —E_—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
Name 8 THET T THET FHET
Principal place of business/country = Z4 ¥ b2 A7 BR PRC/PRC PRC/PRC PRC/PRC PRC/PRC
of establishment HE B HE B,
% of ownership interests/voting EERERTF BN AR
rights held by NCI PRt 20% 20% 49% 49%
At 31 December: R+=—A=+—8:
Non-current assets ETBEE - 5 48 3,729
Current assets REEE 10,245 11,122 1,151 16,804
Current liabilities mEAE (523) (568) (5,700) (17,121)
Non-current liabilities FEnHBE - - (561) (2,213)
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(AfE)FE 9,722 10,559 (5,062) 1,199
Accumulated NCI REPFEIERE R 1,944 2,111 (2,480) 588
Year ended 31 December: BE+t-HA=1t—HLEE:
Revenue Wz - - 17,277 12,452
Loss g} (6) (18) (5,762) (1,205)
Total comprehensive 2E (%), WA EE
(expenses)/income (831) 338 (501) 2
(Loss)/profit allocated to NCI GGEY S
(B518),/ % F) (167) 64 (3,068) (590)
Net cash (used in)/from operating & 4558 (FTR),/FTis
activities and increased/ BeFErBekES
(decreased) in cash and SEWEN CRd)
cash equivalents (2) (12) 268 358
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EEzE—T -

FHA=t+—ALEE

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 36. GERERBRMEE
CASH FLOWS

140

(@

(b)

Acquisition of interest in a subsidiary
During the year, the Group acquired an additional 10% interest in
a 90%-owned subsidiary at a cash consideration of RMB1. The

(@) WER-HEHNEBARzER
RER - AEENRSREARBE A TREE
BO% R 2 M BLA10%FEIIMER - K

effect of the acquisition on the equity attributable to the owners WEE AR RIHA AEIEEEHTENT -
of the Company is as follows:

HK$’000

FET

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired  Fr s B JEi fg 25 2 BRI (& (112)
Consideration paid to non-controlling interests IR RERE A ZRE =5
Loss on acquisition recognised directly in equity HERERTREIANWESS (112)

* Represents amount less than HK$1,000 * KR 1,000 B T H © 58
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) RETBZEEHE
activities

The table set forth below is the detail changes in the Group’s
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,

TERAVARERERDES 2 BBENEHH
B BERASMFEISEY - METDELZ
BEDEERERBIRKASRENAEE
FARERERTHEARERDHSREN

classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as afE -
cash flows from financing activities.

1 January Interest Exchange 31 December
2022  Cash flows charges realignment 2022
—E-C
—E--f& +=A
—A—-H RERE HEER EXAR Er=1F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000
THET TET TR THET TET
Convertible bonds — liabilities  A[#fRE% — BEZSD 18,673 - 1,904 - 20,577
component (note 28) (Hst28)
Lease liabilities (note 29) HES®E(H29) 4,342 (2,201) 122 (187) 2,076
23,015 (2,201) 2,026 (187) 22,653
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HE-_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 36. GMEHESRERMET(E)
CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) ®BMETBHZEFEYERGE)
activities (continued)
1 January Lease Interest Exchange 31 December
2021 Additions ~ termination  Cash flows charges  realignment 2021
—E--F
i S3 +=A
—-A-8 hE HELE RBeNE MEER R =t-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx FhT Ti#r FiEx Fhr Ti#n FiEx
Convertible bonds — liabiities ~ A#RES — BESSH 21,132 17,788 - (21,600) 1,358 - 18,673
component (note 28) (Hi#28)
Lease liabillies (note 29) RE&E (29 3,270 4519 (729) 2,876) 157 1 4,342
24,402 22,307 (729) (24,476) 1,510 1 23,015

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

() HENRSRHAE

Amounts included in the cash flow statements for lease comprise

FEEFARSRERNSHEBEATRE

the following:

2022 2021
—EoC—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAET
Within operating cash flows KEREME 122 157
Within financing cash flows BERSRE 2,079 2,719
2,201 2,876

These amounts relate to the following: ZEDHEEAUT AR -
2022 2021
—E__—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHAT
Lease rental paid EfHEE 2,201 2,876
Short-term lease charges on premises YMEZEHEEEA 166 843
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37.

38.

39.

40.

142

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group did not have any capital
commitments.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Other than disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group
did not have any contingent liabilities at the end of reporting period
(2021: Nil).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Other than those balances of related party disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following material
transactions with its related parties during the year.

Key Management Compensation

Other than those disclosed in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, there is no remuneration paid to key management
personnel of the Company during the year (2021: Nil).

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
Board of Directors on 29 March 2023.

37.

38.

39.

40.

BAEIE
RZFEZZFRZZF=_—F+=-A=1+—0 " +58
S AT ] & AN RIE o

HREME
BRSHBRRAMEHHEI - ARERREHR
FEEARABE( B —F ) -

BELIR5S
BEAMBRRAMEHHBEOMBS BB A%
BAFRERER A THEARS -

TEEEEWE
KA M BRERM T 14 REEN  FAMBRAR
RAETEEBBAEXNME (2T =—F - 8) -

O I 3 B #S Rk
WBBRREN - E-=F=-F -+ NBEEEeHE
R IZHETE
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Year ended/As at 31 December

BET-AZ+-HLFE/RT=A=+-H

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ZE-=f C-EI--% CZZ-TF CZE-HhE —B-N\E
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR THT TET TR
OPERATING RESULT REEE
Turnover Wz 65,654 82,533 119,337 301,214 77,433
Cost of sales WA (62,400) (78,520) (115,253) (289,904) (67,259)
Gross profit EF 3,254 4,013 4,084 11,310 10,175
Other income Hb A 1,452 46 k] 2,445 3,311
Seling and distribution costs HERDHRA = - (62) (254) (225)
Administrative expenses Gk (14,698) (13,609) (18,355) (25,794) (46,784)
Other operating losses Hip2ERA (250) (250) (780) - -
(Impairment losses)/reversal of impairment losses Rz CRIEER),/
for trade receivables REEBEE (49) (6503) 2,704 (3,089) -
Reversal of impairment losses/(impairment losses) Hib IR 2 FEEE
for other receivables e/ (REBE) 130 (1,431) (438) - -
Impairment losses for right-of-use assets TREAECAERE (2,080) - - - -
Loss from operation EEEFR (12,241) (11,734) (12,714) (15,378) (33,523
Finance costs HHER (2,026) (1,542) (2,360) (1,790) (396)
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries HEMBARkE - - - 12,853 -
Impairment losses for associates SEE N RESE = (7,963) - - -
Share of results of associates AMEBERREE (7,248) (1,978) 64 4,064 (478)
Share of results of a joint venture HME—RALLEEE - (73) 58 10 -
Loss before tax BB A EE (21,515) (23,290) (14,952) (251) (34,397
Income tax credit/(expense) FiEHEE,/ (%) - 53 - ) (733)
Loss for the year EREE (21,515) (23,237) (14,952) (253) (35,130)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income FREMRE (EE),/
for the year, net of tax: WA HBRBIE
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: TEEHHEEERMNIER
Fair value changes of financial assets at fair value BOTEAEMZERA
through other comprehensive income NeREELATESY - - - (338) 125
ltem that may be reclassified to profit or loss: AREFDEEERMNER ¢
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations  #E /89N £ 75850 E 1 = 58 (315) 34 216 (776) 838
Release of exchange reserve upon disposals HENB A BEER
of subsidiaries e - - - (1,586) -
Share of other comprehensive (loss)/income of SEBERREMEE
associates (F518) /A (1,563) 766 1,440 - -
Other comprehensive (loss)income EREMEE(ER)/
for the year, net of tax WA - HBRHIE (1,878) 800 1,656 (2,700) 963
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRE2EFBAE (23,393) (22,437 (13,296) (2,953) (34,167)
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Year ended/As at 31 December

BET-AZ+-HLFE/RT=A=+-H

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ZE-=f C-E--% CZZ-TF CZE-HhE —B-N\E
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FEL TEL THET FiET
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: AL (B718), /%A -
— Owners of the Company EAUNSIE7=PN (18,377) (22,593) (14,880) (1,081) (36,293)
— Non-controling interests — FEERES (3,138) (644) (72) 828 1,163
(21,515) (23,237) (14,952) (253) (35,130)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income EhEERZE
for the year attributable to: (B8 MABE:
— Owners of the Company — AREHEBA (20,170) (21,844) (13,340) (3,747) (35,281)
— Non-controlling interests — JEERRE S (3,223) (593) 44 794 1,114
(23,393) (22,437) (13,296) (2,953) (34,167)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERARE
Total assets AELE 38,721 97,059 78,879 113,294 48,087
Total liabilties afEEE (37,642) (73,723) (36,564) (72,691) (42,409)
Net assets EEFE 1,079 23,336 42,315 40,603 5,678
Equity attributable to: RS
— Owners of the Company — KRARIEAA 1,615 20,761 40,326 38,658 4,527
— Non-controlling interests — JEERR R (536) 2,575 1,989 1,945 1,151
1,079 23,336 42,315 40,603 5,678

144 Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2022



Millennium Pacific
GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ERXR T FEEERERAT]
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

(MASHEEFMKZZBRAT])
Stock Code &2 fX55% : 8147



	Cover
	Characteristics of GEM
	Contents
	Corporate Information
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Report of the Directors
	Governance: Directors and Senior Management
	Corporate Governance Report
	Environmental, Social and Governance Report
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Financial Statements
	Five Year Financial Summary
	Back Cover



